Using Charge Quantisation Rules to Extend the Standard Model

Thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 1995

Douglas James Smith

Department of Physics and Astronomy University of Glasgow

©Douglas James Smith, 1995

ProQuest Number: 13834035

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13834035

Published by ProQuest LLC (2019). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



.



To my family and Sharon.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Prof. R.G. Moorhouse for his help during my first year of reading and learning. I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. C.D. Froggatt, for all his help during the time spent doing the work for this thesis. I would also like to thank Prof. H.B. Nielsen of the Niels Bohr Institute, Copenhagen for his most useful input to this thesis during both, his visits to Glasgow and, my visit to Copenhagen.

I must also thank all my friends for their company and encouragement over the last three years. Finally, thanks to the Particle Physics and Astronomy Research Council (formerly the Science and Engineering Research Council) for providing the postgraduate studentship.

Declaration

With the exception of chapter 1, the work of this thesis has been performed by myself with the assistance and guidance of my supervisor, Dr. C.D. Froggatt, and Prof. H.B. Nielsen.

Abstract

We examine extensions of the Standard Model (SM), trying to base our assumptions on what has already been observed. We consider our models to be the most obvious extensions of the SM in the sense that we don't consider anything fundamentally different such as grand unification or supersymmetry which are not directly suggested by the SM itself.

We use features of the SM to guide our extensions. This method has the advantage that all our models will be based (at least in part) on experimental observations. The disadvantage is that we cannot expect such models to give us any fundamentally new explanations.

The main features we use from the SM are small representations and charge quantisation. By small representations we mean fundamental or singlet representations of each non-abelian group and weak hypercharges close to zero. We use generalisations of the weak hypercharge quantisation rule observed in the Standard Model to specify the weak hypercharge modulo 2 for any given representation of the non-Abelian part of the gauge group. When we combine these principles with the requirement, for a theoretically consistent model, that there are no anomalies, we are left with a very restricted choice of models.

For most of this thesis we concentrate on the possibility of additional low mass fermions (relative to the Planck mass) and search for combinations of allowed representations which don't produce any gauge anomalies. We put strong experimental constraints on these models by using the renormalisation group equations to estimate fixed point masses for the new fermions in our models, and also to check that there is no U(1) Landau pole below the Planck scale. This is required since we are assuming a desert up to the Planck scale.

In our most promising model we show that a fourth generation of quarks without leptons is possible and can soon be tested experimentally. In this model we replace the fourth generation of leptons (required in the SM to cancel anomalies) with a generation of SU(5)-"quarks" which are a generalisation of the SM quarks but coupling to a new SU(5) group instead of SU(3). We discuss how well this model agrees with experiment and give estimates for the masses of the new fermions.

In the final chapter we examine a different model where we don't introduce any new low mass fermions. Instead we try to explain the mass structure of the SM in a natural way. The problem with the SM is that the masses require different fermions to have different Yukawa couplings to the SM Higgs boson. The smallest and largest couplings differ by a factor of about 10^5 . In this model all fundamental Yukawa couplings are of order 1 (which we assume to be more natural). The range of masses we observe are due to the different symmetry breaking scales associated with this model breaking down to the SM. The results are compared to results for a very similar model.

Contents

1	Intr	oducti	on	1
	1.1	Anom	alies	2
		1.1.1	Gauge Anomalies	3
		1.1.2	Other Anomalies	6
	1.2	Renor	malisation Group Equations	6
		1.2.1	Gauge Couplings	8
		1.2.2	Yukawa Couplings	12
		1.2.3	The SM Higgs Self-Coupling	14
	1.3	Defini	tions of Mass	15
	1.4	Choos	ing the Type of Model	18
	1.5	Outlin	ne of thesis	22
2	Bui	lding a	a Consistent Extension of the Standard Model	25
	2.1	Types	of Extensions	25
	2.2	Extra	polations From the SM	26
		2.2.1	Extending the Gauge Group and Charge Quantisation	27
		2.2.2	Small Representations	29
		2.2.3	Higher Energies - Desert Hypothesis	30
	2.3	Alterr	native Groups	31
		2.3.1	Invariant Subgroup Case: Horizontal Symmetries	32
		2.3.2	Non-invariant Subgroup Case: SMG as Diagonal Subgroup	33

	2.4	Fermion Mass and Anomaly Cancellation	••	36
	2.5	Deriving the SM Generation		38
		2.5.1 The SM Generation	••	38
		2.5.2 Derivation of the SM Generation	••	40
		2.5.3 Alternative Derivations of the SM Generation	• •	44
3	Exp	erimental Constraints on New Fermions		47
	3.1	Experimental Limits on Fermion Masses		47
		3.1.1 Massless Fermions	• •	48
		3.1.2 Massive Fermions	••	49
	3.2	Technicolour Contributions	••	51
	3.3	Precision Electroweak Data		54
4	The	SMG235 Model Without New SM Fermions		57
	4.1	No New Fermions		58
	4.2	New Fermions Coupling to $SU(5)$	••	58
		4.2.1 General Case Including Massless Fermions		59
		4.2.2 Only Massive Fermions	••	60
5	The	SMG235 Model With New SM Fermions		69
	5.1	Fermions in the groups SMG_{2M} and SMG_{2MN}	••	69
		5.1.1 Fermions in the Group SMG_{2M}	•••	70
		5.1.2 Fermions in the Group SMG_{2MN}		71
	5.2	No Landau Poles		75
	5.3	Upper Limits for Yukawa Couplings and Higgs Mass	••	77
		5.3.1 Examples Of Quasi-Fixed Points		79
		5.3.2 Limits on Masses Consistent with Experimental Limits		95
	5.4	Conclusions	•••	98

.

vi

6	Fermion Masses from Diagonal Symmetry				
	6.1	Introduction	102		
	6.2	Model	106		
	6.3	Results	109		
	6.4	Conclusions	114		
7	Sun	nmary and Conclusions	116		
\mathbf{A}	Massless Fermions All Coupling to $SU(5)$				

.

vii

List of Tables

.

2.1	The lightest SM generation.	39
2.2	Contributions of $S\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^2$ for all fundamental and singlet representa-	
	tions of $SU(2)$ and $SU(3)$ for any value of weak hypercharge which	
	satisfies eq. $(1.4.67)$. All 'N's are integers so that the charge quan-	
	tisation rule, eq. $(1.4.67)$, is satisfied. S is the dimension of the	
	non-abelian representation	41
2.3	All allowed representations of fermions which could be used to sat-	
	isfy eq. (2.5.18) and their contributions to some anomalies	43
2.4	Allowed combinations of fermions and their contribution to the	
	remaining anomalies	44
4.1	Allowed mass groupings $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$ of new fermions in the SMG_{235}	
	model, using the charge quantisation rule, eq. $(4.2.1)$, and funda-	
	mental representations of $SU(5)$. Their relative contributions to	
	the anomaly equation, eq. $(2.4.14)$, are given in the final column.	
	A particular mass grouping of type t is given by choosing a partic-	
	ular value of weak hypercharge, i.e. by choosing a particular value	
	of the integer N_t .	61
4.2	Smallest anomaly-free (subject to the constraint $N_1 + N_2 + N_3 + N_4 =$	

.

5.1	Left-handed fermions coupling to $SU(5)$ in the mass grouping $\{-\frac{1}{5}, (1, 1)\}$, 5)}.
	The electric charges are in units of $\frac{1}{5}$ due to the charge quantisation	
	rule. These $SU(5)$ -"quarks" form an anomaly-free set of fermions	
	together with a fourth generation of SM quarks	73
5.2	Fermions coupling to $SU(N)$ which would form an anomaly-free	
	set of fermions together with a fourth generation of quarks. These	
	fermions form the mass-grouping $\{-\frac{1}{N}, (1, \mathbf{N})\}$.	74
5.3	Infrared fixed point Yukawa couplings and corresponding running	
	masses (for $F_{\pi} = 75$ GeV) for a particular choice of Yukawa cou-	
	plings at the Planck scale	97
6.1	Values of Q_f for the second and third generation fermions in the	
	model of [17]. The first generation fermions have $Q_f = 0. \ldots$	107
6.2	Values of Q_f for the second and third generation fermions in the	
	model with group given by eq. $(6.2.15)$. The first generation fermions	
	have $Q_f = 0$ as in the model of [17]	108
6.3	Masses and mixing angles fitted using the $U(1)_f$ charges given in	
	table 6.1	110
6.4	Masses and mixing angles fitted using the $U(1)_f$ charges given in	
	table 6.2	111
A.1	All fundamental and singlet fermion representations of $SU(2)$ and	
	SU(3) which are fundamental representations of $SU(5)$. The weak	
	hypercharges obey the charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.72) and	
	the 'N's are integers which need not be the same, even for two	
	identical non-abelian representations. The relative contributions	
	to the $[U(1)]^3$ and $[SU(2)]^2U(1)$ gauge anomalies are shown for	
	each type of representation.	121

.

A.2	Types of representations A to L shown in table A.1 with their rela-	
	tive contributions to the $[SU(3)]^2U(1), [SU(5)]^2U(1), [SU(3)]^3$ and	
	$[SU(5)]^3$ gauge anomalies. Since all the fermions are in fundamen-	
	tal representations of $SU(5)$ the condition for the absence of the	
	mixed gauge and gravitational anomaly, $G^2U(1)$, is the same as for	
	the absence of the $[SU(5)]^2U(1)$ gauge anomaly	122
A.3	Allowed combinations of fermion representations which could cancel	
	all anomalies with less than 200 fermions for $C - D = 3$	126
A.4	Allowed combinations of fermions representations which cancel all	
	anomalies except the $[U(1)]^3$ gauge anomaly, with less than 200	
	fermions	127

List of Figures

1.1 For the theory to be anomaly-free, the amplitude of this Feynman diagram must be zero for all choices of external gauge bosons after summing over all possible fermions in the internal loop (triangle).

4

66

- 4.1 α^{-1} from M_Z to the Planck scale for each component group in the SMG_{235} model without new SM fermions. There is clearly a U(1) Landau pole at $\mu \sim 10^7$ GeV and SU(2) also loses asymptotic freedom. $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2$ has been chosen as a specific example. . .
- 5.1 α^{-1} from M_Z to the Planck scale for each component group in the SMG_{235} model with a fourth generation of quarks and the fermions of table 5.1 which couple to SU(5). The initial value of $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2$ was chosen so that the SU(5) group would confine above the electroweak scale. There are obviously no Landau poles between m_Z and the Planck scale so this model is self-consistent. 76
- 5.2 Fixed point of yt and λ in the SM. The lines show the running of different initial values at the Planck scale down to the fixed point values at the electroweak scale.
 5.2 Fixed point of y and y without the top quark on any SU(5)
- 5.4 Running Yukawa couplings for the top and fourth generation quarks.All Yukawa couplings are chosen to be 3.0 at the Planck scale. . . 85

5.5	Running Yukawa couplings for the top and fourth generation quarks.	
	The top quark gets a pole mass of 160 GeV, near the bottom end	
	of the experimental range. The fourth generation quarks end up	
	with a similar mass	86
5.6	Fixed point value of $Y_2(S)$ for figures 5.3, 5.4 and 5.5.	88
5.7	Fixed point value of the Yukawa couplings of the $SU(5)$ -"quarks"	
	when they are set to 3.0 at the Planck scale. The $SU(5)$ fine struc-	
	ture constant is chosen to be $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0. \ldots \ldots \ldots$	91
5.8	Fixed point value of the Yukawa couplings of the $SU(5)$ -"quarks"	
	when they are set to 3.0 at the Planck scale. The $SU(5)$ fine struc-	
	ture constant is chosen to be $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 10.0.$	92
5.9	Fixed point values of $Y_2(S)$ for the $SU(5)$ -"quarks" with different	
	values of $\alpha_5(M_Z)$ corresponding to figures 5.7 and 5.8	93
5.10	Quasi-fixed Yukawa couplings at the electroweak scale when all	
	Yukawa couplings are chosen to be 2.0 at the Planck scale and	
	$\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0. \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	94
5.11	An example of running Yukawa couplings for all fermions with a	
	mass the same order of magnitude as the electroweak scale. The	
	values were chosen at the Planck scale and run down to M_Z so that	
	all the fermions would have a mass allowed by current experimental	
	limits	100
5.12	Fixed point value of λ , the Higgs quartic coupling. This graph,	
	along with the estimated value of $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle = 234$ GeV, leads to	
	the approximate upper bound on the Higgs mass of 172 GeV	101

Chapter 1

Introduction

The so-called Standard Model (SM) has been widely accepted as an accurate description of all observed physics other than the gravitational interaction. However, not many people believe that the SM is a complete description of physics. The main reason is the large number (~ 20) of free parameters in the model. There is also the fact that current accelerators have not yet found a Higgs boson and so many features of the SM have not even been observed. This means that it is certainly possible that the SM is only the low energy part of another model. This other model could be observed at scales higher than energies probed by todays accelerators. In fact such a model could be at a scale as high as the Planck scale or as low as the electroweak scale. In this thesis we wish to investigate some of these models and check to ensure that they are self-consistent and agree with current experimental data.

In order for any model to be valid it must be self-consistent. This is not trivial for chiral gauge theories. When quantised, anomalies can arise which would spoil the gauge symmetry and make the theory useless for calculations. The absence of such anomalies provides many constraints on our models. These are discussed in section 1.1.

Another requirement for self-consistency is that the gauge coupling constants

(the U(1) coupling constant in particular) remain finite over the range of energy scales in which the model is supposed to be valid. This must be checked carefully since the coupling 'constants' vary with the energy scale. We shall describe the dependence of the coupling constants on the energy scale in section 1.2. In particular, in section 1.2.1, we will discuss the constraint that the finiteness of the gauge coupling constants provides on the weak hypercharges of fermions in our models.

The success of the SM means that it must almost certainly have great significance to any attempt to produce any other model to describe nature. Therefore we have chosen to base our models on the SM, extending and generalising features of the SM to produce models as similar to the SM as possible. The basic ideas and alternatives are outlined in section 1.4.

1.1 Anomalies

When calculating using quantum field theory, it is found that diagrams involving loops introduce infinities and so would give infinite cross-sections. This is obviously not physically possible and to get round this the theory must be regularised. In simple terms this means that some sort of momentum cut-off is introduced so that the infinite terms (which arise from integrating over infinite momenta) are made finite. This is equivalent to using a set of running parameters (running because they depend on some energy or momentum scale) instead of the bare parameters which appear in the Lagrangian. In a sense the infinities are put into the bare parameters. It does not matter that they are then infinite since they are not physical observables. This procedure is called renormalisation. However, this is only possible for certain theories. One of the requirements is the absence of some kinds of anomalies.

Anomalies are purely quantum effects. They correspond to some quantity which is conserved classically not being conserved in the quantised theory. Some anomalies are harmless such as the axial-vector current Ward identity anomaly in current algebra which explains the high rate of the neutral pion decay:

$$\pi^0 \to 2\gamma$$

However, some anomalies are harmful in the sense that they spoil the renormalisation procedure, making it impossible to calculate anything meaningful from the theory. In this section we shall discuss these types of anomalies and the constraints imposed on our models by the requirement that such anomalies vanish.

1.1.1 Gauge Anomalies

In any chiral gauge theory, gauge anomalies can arise. These anomalies lead to an inconsistent theory and so they must not be present in a good theory. Each fermion representation makes its contribution to each type of anomaly. We say that there is an anomaly present if the total contribution to an anomaly from all the fermion representations is non-zero.

As we shall discuss in section 2.2.1 the models considered in this thesis have gauge groups of the general form

$$U(1) \otimes \prod_{i} SU(N_{i})/D \tag{1.1.1}$$

The discrete group D leads to charge quantisation but has no direct relevance to the anomalies. We assume all fermions to be in \mathbf{N} , $\overline{\mathbf{N}}$ or singlet (1) representations of each SU(N), as will be discussed in section 2.2.2. We define n to be the Nality of a representation (n = 1 (-1) for representation \mathbf{N} ($\overline{\mathbf{N}}$) and n = 0 for singlet representation). We can also define the size, S, of each representation as the dimension of the representation (e.g. in the SM, S = 6 for the (2,3) representation of $SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$ which is equivalent to the fact that there are 6 left-handed quarks in each generation).

For gauge anomalies we sum the contribution for all left-handed fermions and subtract the sum over all right-handed fermions. This is equivalent to summing



Figure 1.1: For the theory to be anomaly-free, the amplitude of this Feynman diagram must be zero for all choices of external gauge bosons after summing over all possible fermions in the internal loop (triangle).

over left-handed fermions and left-handed anti-fermions. We have now introduced all the necessary notation to write down general equations for all types of gauge anomalies.

The requirement that there are no anomalies present in a theory is analogous to the triangle Feynman diagram in fig. 1.1 with a fermion loop and three external gauge bosons (labelled by G, G' and G'') having zero amplitude for all possible choices of gauge bosons G, G' and G''. The contribution from each fermion representation is calculated by making particular choices for the fermions in the internal loop. These contributions must then sum to give zero amplitude if there is to be no anomaly. When this is true we say that the anomaly has been cancelled. The general condition for anomaly cancellation is,

$$Tr[\{T_L^a, T_L^b\}T_L^c] = Tr[\{T_R^a, T_R^b\}T_R^c]$$
(1.1.2)

where the 'T's are the transformation matrices for the fermions at the three

vertices. When we consider left-handed anti-fermions instead of right-handed fermions, the condition becomes simply,

$$Tr[\{T^a, T^b\}T^c] = 0 (1.1.3)$$

The trace corresponds to summing over all individual fermion representations and we can split the condition into different conditions for each choice of external gauge bosons. In our models we have the following type of anomalies which must be cancelled by an appropriate choice of fermion representations.

If each of G, G' and G" is an SU(N) gauge boson where $N \ge 3$ then each representation gives a relative contribution of $Sn^3 = Sn$ (since n = -1, 0 or 1 in our models). The total contribution is therefore $\sum_i S_i n_i$ where *i* labels each lefthanded fermion (and anti-fermion) representation. We label this type of anomaly $[SU(N)]^3$ and require

$$\sum_{i} S_i n_i = 0 \tag{1.1.4}$$

Another type of anomaly corresponds to the diagram with one U(1) gauge boson and two SU(N) gauge bosons where $N \ge 2$, labelled as $[SU(N)]^2U(1)$. Each representation gives a relative contribution Sn^2y where y is the conventional weak hypercharge¹. Therefore we require

$$\sum_{i} S_i(n_i)^2 y_i = 0 \tag{1.1.5}$$

The final type of gauge anomaly corresponds to the diagram with all the gauge bosons G, G' and G'' being U(1) gauge bosons. This is labelled as $[U(1)]^3$ and each representation gives a relative contribution Sy^3 . Therefore we require

$$\sum_{i} S_{i} y_{i}^{3} = 0 \tag{1.1.6}$$

¹Throughout this thesis we take the normalisation for the weak hypercharge that the right handed electron has y = 2.

1.1.2 Other Anomalies

There is also a mixed gravitational and gauge anomaly [1] which corresponds to one U(1) gauge boson and two gravitons in figure 1.1. We will label this as $G^2U(1)$. Each representation gives a relative contribution Sy and so this leads to the constraint

$$\sum_{i} S_i y_i = 0 \tag{1.1.7}$$

This anomaly comes from theories involving quantum gravity. At first this may not appear important for our models since we are not considering quantum gravity. But, since all such theories require this constraint in the low energy limit, we must make sure this anomaly doesn't exist in our models if we want them to be low energy effective theories of a complete theory which includes gravity.

Another possible anomaly is the Witten discrete SU(2) anomaly [2]. This states that if the number of left-handed SU(2) doublets is odd then the theory is inconsistent. This is different from the other anomalies considered in the sense that this is a global anomaly whereas the other are all local. The anomaly corresponds to the requirement that the theory should be consistent with a global SU(2)gauge transformation. However, if there are an odd number of Weyl doublets, it is possible to perform such a transformation and introduce a change of sign in the Lagrangian. This means that the theory cannot be used to calculate in a general gauge. As we shall see later in section 2.4 we will always have an even number of Weyl SU(2) doublets and so this anomaly does not give us any problems.

1.2 Renormalisation Group Equations

The renormalisation procedure introduces an arbitrary scale μ and the value of all the renormalised couplings depend on this scale. The renormalisation group equations (RGEs) describe how to relate parameters at different scales. We use these equations to calculate the running gauge coupling constants from the electroweak scale up to the Planck scale. If one of these becomes infinite then there is a Landau pole. If this happens then the model cannot be self-consistent up to the Planck scale. Since we calculate the RGEs perturbatively this would mean that the model was not perturbatively consistent up to the Planck scale. It is possible that the theory may still make sense in this case if non-perturbative methods were used but it is not clear whether or not this would happen. Therefore we will take the view that a consistent theory must be perturbatively consistent.

We also use the RGEs to calculate the Yukawa couplings at different scales. Here we go in the opposite direction to the calculation of the gauge coupling constants by calculating the Yukawa couplings at the electroweak scale from values chosen at the Planck scale. The reason we do this is that if the value of a Yukawa coupling at the Planck scale is increased, normally the resultant value at the electroweak scale is increased. However, there is a quasi-fixed point limit on the Yukawa couplings at the electroweak scale. This occurs when the Yukawa coupling at the Planck scale reaches a certain value (typically of order 1), and when increased further the value at the electroweak scale becomes fairly insensitive to the precise value at the Planck scale. This can be taken to be an upper limit on the Yukawa coupling at the electroweak scale. However, there is not a precise limit for each fermion and when there are several heavy fermions the limit on any one depends on the relative values of the other Yukawa couplings.

We use first order (1-loop) RGEs. More accurate results are available in the literature but further corrections only change predictions by a few percent. This will not affect the existence or otherwise of a Landau pole in the models we consider. Also, since the quasi-fixed point limits for the Yukawa couplings are only used to give approximate upper limits for the electroweak Yukawa couplings (and corresponding masses) of fermions, the error introduced by neglecting 2-loop corrections is not significant.

We will now describe the 1-loop RGEs for the gauge couplings and the Yukawa couplings. We use these to check that there are no Landau poles and to give estimates of the Yukawa couplings at the electroweak scale. Then we will describe the RGE for the Higgs quartic coupling which is related to the Higgs mass. Finally we discuss the definitions of mass for fermions; relating the Yukawa coupling to the running mass and the pole mass.

1.2.1 Gauge Couplings

The Lagrangian density of the gauge fields in a quantum field theory with a simple gauge group G is given by,

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} Tr(F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu})$$
(1.2.8)

where the anti-symmetric field tensor is defined as:

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} - ig[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$$
(1.2.9)

g is the bare gauge coupling and A_{μ} is defined in terms of the gauge fields, A^{a}_{μ} , and the adjoint representation of generators of G, T^{a} , by:

$$A_{\mu} = T^a A^a_{\mu} \tag{1.2.10}$$

The commutation relations of the generators are given in terms of the group structure constants, f^{abc} :

$$[T^a, T^b] = i f^{abc} T^c (1.2.11)$$

and are normalised so that:

$$Tr(T^aT^b) = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ab} \tag{1.2.12}$$

For semi-simple groups the Lagrangian density is simply a sum of the Lagrangian densities for each of the simple factors. For a U(1) factor the gauge field tensor is simply defined as:

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} \tag{1.2.13}$$

When quantum field theories defined by these Lagrangian densities are renormalised, the physical gauge couplings depend on an arbitrary scale. To 1-loop order the equation describing the running gauge coupling of the gauge group SU(N), g_N , at scale μ is:

$$\frac{dg_N}{dt} = \beta_N(g_N) \tag{1.2.14}$$

where $t = \ln(\mu)$ and the first order beta function, $\beta_N(g_N)$, is given by:

$$\beta_N(g_N) = g_N^3 K_N \tag{1.2.15}$$

The constant K_N is defined as [3]:

$$K_N = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left[-\frac{11}{3} C_2(G) + \frac{4}{3} \kappa S_2(F) + \frac{1}{6} S_2(S) \right]$$
(1.2.16)

The group factors are; the eigenvalue of the quadratic Casimir operator acting on the adjoint representation (the representation of the gauge bosons), $C_2(G)$ and the Dynkin indices for fermion and scalar representations, $S_2(F)$ and $S_2(S)$ respectively. $\kappa = \frac{1}{2}$ for 2-component fermions (Weyl fermions) and $\kappa = 1$ for 4-component fermions. In all our models the fermions are 2-component and will be in fundamental or singlet representations of each SU(N) gauge group. The only scalar will be the SM Higgs boson. So we have:

$$C_2(G) = N$$
 (1.2.17)

$$S_2(F) = n_F$$
 (1.2.18)

$$S_2(S) = n_S$$
 (1.2.19)

$$\kappa = \frac{1}{2} \tag{1.2.20}$$

where $n_F(n_S)$ is the number of fermions (scalars) in fundamental representations of SU(N). Since the only scalar we have is the SM Higgs boson, $n_S = 1$ for the SU(2) subgroup of the SMG and $n_S = 0$ otherwise.

We can integrate eqs. (1.2.14) and (1.2.15) analytically by writing them as,

$$\int_{g_N(\mu_0)}^{g_N(\mu)} \frac{dg_N}{g_N^3} = K_N \int_{t_0}^t dt$$
 (1.2.21)

This leads to the result

$$\frac{1}{2g_N^2(\mu_0)} - \frac{1}{2g_N^2(\mu)} = K_N \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(1.2.22)

We now use the definition of the fine structure constants,

$$\alpha_N(\mu) = \frac{g_N^2(\mu)}{4\pi}$$
(1.2.23)

along with the definition of K_N to write:

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_N(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_N(\mu_0)} + \frac{1}{12\pi} (22N - 4n_F - n_S) \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(1.2.24)

This equation allows us to calculate the fine structure constant at any scale μ provided we know it's value at some scale μ_0 .

The U(1) fine structure constant at scale μ , $\alpha_1(\mu)$, can be calculated in a similar way and to 1-loop order we have:

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu_0)} - \frac{1}{12\pi} (Y^2 + Y_S^2) \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(1.2.25)

where Y^2 is the sum of weak hypercharges squared over all fermions and $Y_S^2 = 1$ for the SM Higgs boson.

However, a more usual convention is to use the normalisation for the U(1) gauge coupling constant used in grand unified theories (GUTs). This is because the coupling constant would be normalised differently if the U(1) group was the subgroup of a simple group. In particular, for $U(1) \subset SU(N)$ we have the following normalisation:

$$(g_1^2)_{\rm GUT} \equiv \frac{5}{3}(g_1^2)_{\rm SM}$$
 (1.2.26)

$$(\alpha_1^{-1})_{\text{GUT}} \equiv \frac{3}{5} (\alpha_1^{-1})_{\text{SM}}$$
 (1.2.27)

This then leads to a modification of eq.(1.2.25):

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu_0)} - \frac{1}{20\pi} (Y^2 + Y_S^2) \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(1.2.28)

Landau Poles

A Landau pole is a point where the value of a gauge coupling constant becomes infinite. This corresponds to α^{-1} becoming zero. It is only for the U(1) gauge group that the value of α^{-1} necessarily decreases when run from low to high scales. Therefore it is the U(1) sector that is likely to have a Landau pole. In fact there must be a Landau pole at some scale; what we are interested in is whether this occurs above or below the Planck scale. Above the Planck scale we do not expect our model to be a good description of physics so we do not worry about effects above the Planck scale. However, a Landau pole below the Planck scale would not be acceptable since the model would not then be (perturbatively) consistent.

We can use eq. (1.2.28) to calculate an upper limit on Y^2 . This is because the requirement of no U(1) Landau pole below the Planck scale means that $\frac{1}{\alpha(M_{Planck})} > 0$. This then provides a limit on Y^2 for any choice of thresholds where new particles are introduced. We will use this in section 4.2.2 to rule out several models.

Thresholds

The equations given in this section for the running of the gauge coupling constants involve numbers of fermions or Higgs bosons coupling to the groups or sums over all fermions or Higgs bosons of weak hypercharges squared. These numbers depend on all fermions or Higgs bosons in the theory whatever their masses. However, we should really include threshold effects which mean that particles do not contribute significantly unless the scale, μ , is of the same order of magnitude as, or greater than, their mass. A full calculation of such effects is complicated so we will use a very simple approximation. We will include all particles with pole masses below the scale in the RGEs. When the scale is the same as a pole mass, that particle will be included in (removed from) the RGEs if we are running from low to high (high to low) scales. This method is accurate enough for our purposes since we are really only interested in finding out if there is a U(1) Landau pole below the Planck scale. In all the models we consider the existence or otherwise of a Landau pole below the Planck scale is not dependent on small changes in the low energy value of α_1 caused by incomplete threshold analysis.

1.2.2 Yukawa Couplings

Let us consider the simplest case of two fermions, p and m, getting a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism. In order for this mechanism to work we must have a

left-handed SU(2) doublet, $F_L \equiv \begin{pmatrix} p \\ m \end{pmatrix}_L$, and two right-handed SU(2) singlets,

 p_R and m_R . p_R must have a value of weak hypercharge, $y_{p_R} = y_{p_L} + 1$, and m_R must have a value, $y_{m_R} = y_{m_L} - 1$ (p_L and m_L must obviously have the same value). Otherwise the fermions must couple to the gauge group in the same way. The Lagrangian density is given by:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\overline{F}_L y_p i \tau_2 \Phi^* p_R - \overline{F}_L y_m \Phi m_R + \text{h.c.} + (D_\mu \Phi)^{\dagger} (D^\mu \Phi) - V(\Phi) \qquad (1.2.29)$$

where $y_p(y_m)$ is the Yukawa coupling of fermion p(m) and the Higgs potential is defined by:

$$V(\Phi) = -\mu^2 \Phi^{\dagger} \Phi + \lambda (\Phi^{\dagger} \Phi)^2 \qquad (1.2.30)$$

If we parameterise the complex scalar doublet by 4 real fields:

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1^+ + i\phi_2^+ \\ \\ \phi_1^0 + i\phi_2^0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.2.31)

then after the electroweak symmetry breaking one of the fields gets a vacuum expectation value (VEV):

$$<\phi_1^0>=v$$
 (1.2.32)

where

$$v = \sqrt{\frac{\mu^2}{\lambda}} \tag{1.2.33}$$

We label this VEV, $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle$.

The fermion interactions with the Higgs then lead to fermion masses. After the symmetry breaking the running mass of fermion f, m_f , is related to its Yukawa coupling, y_f , by:

$$m_f = \frac{y_f}{\sqrt{2}} < \phi_{WS} > \tag{1.2.34}$$

Here we present the RGEs for the Yukawa couplings to order 1-loop for fermion f. We label its left-handed SU(2) doublet partner by f'.

$$\frac{dy_f}{dt} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \beta_f(t)$$
(1.2.35)

where, to 1-loop, $\beta_f(t)$ is defined by [4]:

$$\beta_f(t) = y_f(t) \left[\frac{3}{2} \left(y_f^2(t) - y_{f'}^2(t) \right) + Y_2(S)(t) - G_f(t) \right]$$

$$Y_2(S)(t) = Tr(Y^{\dagger}(t)Y(t))$$
(1.2.36)

$$G_f(t) = 6 \sum_N g_N^2(t) C_2^N(f)$$
 (1.2.37)

 $g_N(t)$ is the SU(N) (U(1) for N = 1) gauge coupling constant, Y(t) is the Yukawa coupling matrix and $C_2^N(f)$ is the quadratic Casimir operator for the fermion representations of gauge group N. For SU(N), we have the definition:

$$C_2^N(f) = \frac{N^2 - 1}{2N} \tag{1.2.38}$$

and for U(1) we replace $g_1^2 C_2^1(f)$ with:

$$\frac{1}{8} \left((Q_f^L)^2 + (Q_f^R)^2 \right) g_1^2 \tag{1.2.39}$$

where we have used $Q^L(Q^R)$ for the weak hypercharge of the left- (right-) handed fermions. Using the conventional GUT normalisation this becomes:

$$\frac{3}{40} \left((Q_f^L)^2 + (Q_f^R)^2 \right) g_1^2 \tag{1.2.40}$$

Y is the Yukawa coupling matrix and in this case is a diagonal matrix containing the Yukawa couplings of the fermions. There is (an identical) Yukawa coupling for each of the N fermions in each N representation of SU(N) ($N \ge 3$). For example, if the p and m fermions were the up and down quarks we would get $Y_2(S) = 3y_p^2 + 3y_m^2$.

If we have several fermions getting a mass in this way then we can simply generalise the above Lagrangian density by adding more terms. If several fermions have the same quantum numbers then they can mix together and so the gauge eigenstates are different from the mass eigenstates. In the SM this happens for the three generations of quarks. However, the mixing is a small effect and in this thesis we shall ignore it for simplicity. Therefore the Yukawa coupling matrix, Y, will remain diagonal and the above equations will remain unchanged.

1.2.3 The SM Higgs Self-Coupling

We will present the RGEs to 1-loop order for the SM Higgs boson self-coupling, λ . To first order this parameter is related to the Higgs mass by the equation,

$$M_H^2 = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{2}G_\mu} = \lambda < \phi_{WS} >^2 \tag{1.2.41}$$

where G_{μ} is the coefficient of the effective four fermion interaction in an effective low energy model of the weak interactions:

$$\frac{G_{\mu}}{\sqrt{2}} [\overline{\nu}_e \gamma^{\beta} (1 - \gamma_5) e] [\overline{\mu} \gamma_{\beta} (1 - \gamma_5) \nu_{\mu}] \qquad (1.2.42)$$

From the measured value of the muon lifetime [5],

$$\tau_{\mu} = 2.19703 \pm 0.00004 \times 10^{-6}$$
 s (1.2.43)

we can calculate,

$$G_{\mu} = 1.16637 \pm 0.00002 \times 10^{-5} \text{ GeV}^{-2}$$
 (1.2.44)

There is no experimental value for λ at any scale since the Higgs has not yet been observed. However, as for the Yukawa couplings of new fermions, we can observe a quasi-fixed point for $\lambda(\mu = M_Z)$. We can use this to put upper limits on the Higgs mass in our models.

The equation for the running of $\lambda(\mu)$ is given by,

$$\frac{d\lambda}{dt} = \beta_{\lambda}(t) \tag{1.2.45}$$

where, to 1-loop [4]:

$$\beta_{\lambda}(t) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left[12\lambda^2 - \left(\frac{9}{5}g_1^2 + 9g_2^2\right)\lambda + \frac{9}{4}\left(\frac{3}{25}g_1^4 + \frac{2}{5}g_1^2g_2^2 + g_2^4\right) + 4Y_2(S)\lambda - 4H(S) \right]$$
(1.2.46)

where the conventional (GUT type) normalisation is used for g_1 . $Y_2(S)$ and H(S) are defined in terms of the Yukawa coupling matrix Y by,

$$Y_2(S) = Tr(Y^{\dagger}Y)$$
 (1.2.47)

$$H(S) = Tr(Y^{\dagger}YY^{\dagger}Y)$$
(1.2.48)

1.3 Definitions of Mass

For heavy quarks the experimentally measured mass is the pole mass. The mass calculated from the Yukawa coupling by,

$$m_f = \frac{y_f}{\sqrt{2}} < \phi_{WS} >$$
 (1.3.49)

is known as the running mass. We wish to relate these two definitions of mass so that we can compare running Yukawa couplings to experimentally measured masses.

To first order the pole mass, M, is related to the running mass at scale μ , $m(\mu)$, by simply:

$$M = m(M) \tag{1.3.50}$$

However there are further corrections arising from loop diagrams. We shall calculate the leading correction to this formula for fermions in fundamental representations of the gauge group SU(N). For N = 3 this is a good approximation for quarks in the SM since the corrections due to the strong force are much larger than those due to QED. This is simply because $\alpha_S \gg \alpha_{QED}$.

We use dimensional regularisation where the number of dimensions is,

$$D = 4 - 2\varepsilon \tag{1.3.51}$$

We define m_0 to be the bare mass and g_0 to be the bare SU(N) gauge coupling. The renormalised SU(N) gauge coupling at scale μ is $g(\mu)$ and we define the running fine structure constant,

$$\alpha(\mu) \equiv \frac{g^2(\mu)}{4\pi} \tag{1.3.52}$$

Working to 1-loop order will allow us to calculate the corrections to eq. (1.3.50) to order $\alpha(\mu)$. To this order the following equations hold:

$$M = m_0 \left[1 + \frac{g_0^2}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} M^{2\varepsilon}} C_2^N(f) \frac{D-1}{D-3} \Gamma(\varepsilon) \right]$$
(1.3.53)

$$m_0 = m(\mu) \left[1 - \frac{3\alpha(\mu)}{4\pi\varepsilon} C_2^N(f) \right]$$
 (1.3.54)

$$\frac{g_0^2}{4\pi} = \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{4\pi}\right)^{\epsilon} \alpha(\mu) \tag{1.3.55}$$

For fermions in the fundamental representation of SU(N),

$$C_2^N(f) = \frac{N^2 - 1}{2N} \tag{1.3.56}$$

The constant $\gamma \approx 0.5772$ is Euler's constant. We use the approximation for the gamma function for small ε ,

$$\Gamma(\varepsilon) \approx \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \gamma$$
 (1.3.57)

It is now straightforward to eliminate all the bare couplings and relate the pole mass to the running mass.

$$\frac{M}{m(\mu)} = \left[1 - \frac{3\alpha(\mu)}{4\pi\varepsilon} C_2^N(f)\right] \left[1 + \frac{g_0^2}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} M^{2\varepsilon}} C_2^N(f) \frac{D-1}{D-3} \Gamma(\varepsilon)\right]$$
(1.3.58)

Expressing D in terms of ε and neglecting terms of order $\alpha^2(\mu)$ gives the following equation.

$$\frac{M}{m(\mu)} = 1 + \frac{\alpha(\mu)}{4\pi} C_2^N(f) \left[-\frac{3}{\varepsilon} + \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{M^2}\right)^{\varepsilon} \frac{3 - 2\varepsilon}{1 - 2\varepsilon} \Gamma(\varepsilon) \right]$$
(1.3.59)

Now we take the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$. For small ε ,

$$\frac{3-2\varepsilon}{1-2\varepsilon} \approx (3-2\varepsilon)(1+2\varepsilon) \approx 3+4\varepsilon \tag{1.3.60}$$

and

$$\left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{M^2}\right)^{\epsilon} \approx 1 + \epsilon \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{M^2}\right)$$
 (1.3.61)

Combining these we get,

$$\left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{M^2}\right)^{\varepsilon} \frac{3 - 2\varepsilon}{1 - 2\varepsilon} \Gamma(\varepsilon) \approx \left[1 + \varepsilon \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{M^2}\right)\right] [3 + 4\varepsilon] \left[\frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \gamma\right]$$
$$\approx -3\gamma + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left[3 + 4\varepsilon + 3\varepsilon \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma}}{M^2}\right)\right]$$
$$= -3\gamma + \frac{3}{\varepsilon} + 4 + 3\ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M^2}\right) + 3\gamma$$
$$= \frac{3}{\varepsilon} + 4 + 3\ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M^2}\right) \qquad (1.3.62)$$

Therefore, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, to order $\alpha(\mu)$, we can relate the pole mass to the running mass of fermion f by:

$$M_f = m_f(\mu) \left[1 + C_2^N(f) \frac{\alpha(\mu)}{\pi} \left(1 + \frac{3}{4} \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M^2}\right) \right) \right]$$
(1.3.63)

and in the special case where $\mu = M$:

$$M_{f} = m_{f}(M) \left[1 + C_{2}^{N}(f) \frac{\alpha(M)}{\pi} \right]$$
(1.3.64)

In particular:

$$M_f = m_f(M) \left[1 + \frac{4\alpha_3(M)}{3\pi} \right]$$
 (1.3.65)

$$M_f = m_f(M) \left[1 + \frac{12\alpha_5(M)}{5\pi} \right]$$
(1.3.66)

for fermions in fundamental representations of the gauge groups SU(3) and SU(5) respectively. Eq. (1.3.65) agrees with [6].

18

1.4 Choosing the Type of Model

We have now discussed the basic theory behind model building. In section 1.1 we have described the constraints imposed on a chiral gauge theory by the requirement of anomaly cancellation. In section 1.2.1 we have discussed the requirement in our models of no U(1) Landau pole below the Planck scale. We have also presented the RGEs necessary to examine quasi-fixed point Yukawa couplings, in section 1.2.2. We can use these as upper limits on the Yukawa couplings of the fermions in our models. Then in section 1.3 we showed how to convert these Yukawa couplings to running masses and pole masses. This will be used to provide upper limits on the mass of new fermions in our models. Now we must decide what sort of models we wish to examine. In this section we will outline our requirements for extending the SM.

First we shall briefly describe some other methods of extending the SM and then describe our method and compare it to some of these other methods. Over the years there have been numerous attempts at extending the SM. Some of these models have been proposed with the purpose of explaining some particular feature of the SM. For example, GUTs 'explain' the convergence of coupling constants at some energy (typically of order 10¹⁵GeV) as a manifestation of a single fundamental unified interaction. Other models such as supersymmetry (SUSY) have been proposed for mainly aesthetic reasons; SUSY introduces a symmetry between bosons and fermions. But so far none of these attempts has been entirely successful, although SUSY GUTs are phenomenologically consistent with the unification of the SM gauge coupling constants and do not suffer from the gauge hierarchy problem (why the electroweak scale is so small compared to expected radiative corrections from the more fundamental theory which should be of the order of the GUT or Planck scale).

Another approach to extending the SM is to look at the SM itself and look for distinctive features which could be generalised or assumed to hold in an extended theory. The SM has been so successful that, within our experimental and calculational accuracy, it has proved to be a perfect description of nature (except for the gravitational interaction). So we have good reason to say that taking guidance from the SM is akin to "listening to God".

Having accepted this point of view we must now try and interpret the message of the SM. By this we mean that we must look for fundamental features in the SM which could distinguish it from similar and, without experimental evidence, equally plausible models. We propose that one such feature is charge quantisation. This can be expressed as

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$$
 "duality" $+ \frac{1}{3}$ "triality" $\equiv 0 \pmod{1}$ (1.4.67)

where y is the conventional weak hypercharge. The duality has value 1 if the representation is an SU(2) doublet (2) and 0 if it is an SU(2) singlet (1). The triality has value 1 if the representation is an SU(3) triplet (3), 0 if it is an SU(3) singlet (1), and -1 if it is an SU(3) anti-triplet ($\overline{3}$). In general we can define the N-ality of a representation of SU(N) to be the minimum number of N-plet representations of SU(N) which must be combined to construct the representation. In particular N-ality has value 1 if a representation is an SU(N) N-plet (N), 0 if it is an SU(N) singlet (1), and -1 if it is an SU(N) anti-N-plet (\overline{N}). Note that in SU(2) the $\overline{2}$ representation is equivalent to the 2 representation. We expect that in an extension of the SM this charge quantisation relation or some generalisation of it will hold.

An obvious way of extending the SM is to extend the gauge group. The Standard Model Group (SMG) is [7, 8]:

$$SMG \equiv S(U(2) \otimes U(3)) = U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)/\hat{D}_3$$
(1.4.68)

where the discrete group

$$\hat{D}_3 \equiv \{ (e^{i2\pi/6}, -I_2, e^{i2\pi/3}I_3)^n : n \in \mathcal{Z}_6 \}$$
(1.4.69)

ensures the quantisation rule eq. (1.4.67) $(I_N \text{ is the identity of } SU(N))$. We argue that the most obvious extension is to add more groups to the sequence $U(1)\otimes SU(2)\otimes SU(3)$ and to use a different discrete group so that the quantisation rule is generalised to involve all the group components. One of the groups we consider is

$$G_5 \equiv U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3) \otimes SU(5) / \hat{D}_5$$
(1.4.70)

where the discrete group \hat{D}_5 is defined as

$$\hat{D}_5 \equiv \{ (e^{i2\pi/N_5}, -I_2, e^{i2\pi/3}I_3, e^{i2\pi m_5/5}I_5)^n : n \in \mathcal{Z}_{N_5} \}$$
(1.4.71)

where $N_5 = 30$ (= 2 × 3 × 5) and m_5 is an integer which is not a multiple of 5. This group gives a generalised quantisation rule,

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$$
 "duality" + $\frac{1}{3}$ "triality" + $\frac{m_5}{5}$ "quintality" $\equiv 0 \pmod{1} (1.4.72)$

which is the most obvious generalisation of the SM charge quantisation rule. Further generalisations are obtained by extending the sequence $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$ with a set of SU(N) factors, where the 'N's are greater than 3 and mutually prime [7].

We will consider the fundamental scale to be the Planck mass (M_{Planck}) and our models will be a full description of physics without gravity below this scale. The assumptions we make about our models essentially lead to the conclusion that all new fermions with a mass significantly below M_{Planck} must have a mass below the TeV scale as explained in section 3.2. Therefore our models all describe low energy physics (below the TeV scale) and have a desert up to the Planck scale where new physics will occur. We don't specify any details about the Planck scale physics since it is largely irrelevant to low energy physics.

We shall describe the gauge groups considered in this thesis and the motivation for choosing such groups in more detail in section 2.2.1. We shall consider general types of gauge groups and also give specific examples, concentrating on the group G_5 defined by eqs. (1.4.70) and (1.4.71). When we also impose the condition that all fermions are in fundamental representations, as in the SM, we are limited to the models which we shall consider in this thesis. After choosing the gauge group we want to examine which low mass fermions (low relative to the Planck scale) can exist in the model. We must check that the model is then consistent, both theoretically and experimentally.

The main theoretical constraint is that there are no anomalies as described in section 1.1. This greatly limits the choice of fermions and their weak hypercharges in our models.

There is one important fact to keep in mind when proposing any extended model which has extra non-Abelian gauge groups such as SU(N). As we already know from the SM, the SU(3) group acts as a technicolour group [9] and gives a contribution to the W^{\pm} and Z^{0} masses. In the SM this contribution is very small but when confining groups with N > 3 are considered we must carefully consider the effect this will have. Since we are not wanting the complications of extended technicolour in order to generate quark and lepton masses, we assume that there is a Higgs doublet and that the masses of the weak gauge bosons are generated by a combination of the Higgs sector of the theory and the technicolour effects of the gauge groups. This happens in exactly the same way as in the SM where QCD gives a small contribution to the W^{\pm} and Z^{0} masses.

For our models to be perturbatively valid, all Yukawa couplings at the electroweak scale must be not much greater than 1 and consequently none of the fermions can have a mass much greater than the electroweak scale. This means that we would expect the thresholds for including the new fermions into the RGEs to be approximately at the electroweak scale. However, we will sometimes take a somewhat higher threshold scale for all the new fermions when checking to see if a model could be perturbatively valid up to the Planck scale. For example, we can calculate the running gauge coupling constants, assuming that all the new fermions can be included in the RGEs at the TeV scale. Thus we can check to see if any gauge coupling constant becomes infinite below the Planck scale (i.e.
if there are any Landau poles, especially for the U(1) coupling). If the threshold was lower then the new fermions would affect the coupling constants even more but this would only be a small effect. Obviously we do not want the coupling constants to become infinite or the theory will be inconsistent. When we do this we find that there are few self-consistent models allowed by our assumptions, in the sense that for any particular gauge group only a few combinations of fermions which cancel the anomalies do not cause the U(1) gauge coupling to diverge.

We will show that in the model with gauge group G_5 we can add new fermions with masses accessible to present or planned future accelerators, in particular a fourth generation of quarks without any new leptons. Although the model is consistent and can be tested experimentally in the near future, it is not called for theoretically and does not resolve any of the outstanding problems of the SM. Nevertheless it is the simplest alternative to the SM which has the same characteristic properties as the SM itself.

1.5 Outline of thesis

In chapter 2 we will discuss our method of constructing models and describe in detail the types of models our method leads us to consider. We shall compare these models to some alternatives and try to justify our approach in comparison to these others. We will also compare our method of choosing the fermion content of our models to previous methods of deriving the SM generation of quarks and leptons. We shall see that our methods provide a consistent derivation of the SM generation without introducing any phenomenological arguments.

In chapter 3 we shall discuss the experimental constraints which arise from the consistency of the SM with experiments. This includes the experimental limits on the mass of the top quark and the masses of new, undetected fermions. We will show that current experimental limits provide lower limits for new quark masses. We will also show that no more massless fermions are allowed in our models and

so we are justified in using the simplification of the anomaly constraints when all fermions get a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism, derived in section 2.4. We will also consider the technicolour-like effects of fermion condensates in new non-abelian groups and the resultant reduction of the SM Higgs VEV relative to its SM value. This will lead to a corresponding reduction in fermion masses. Finally we will discuss the constraints imposed by the effects of loop corrections in the electroweak theory. The deviations from tree-level relations are measured by precision electroweak measurements and can be parameterised in such a way that we can derive some simple constraints on the number of new fermion SU(2)doublets in our models.

In chapter 4 we shall show the difficulty of constructing a model where all the new fermions are in 5-plet or anti-5-plet representations of SU(5). We will begin by considering the general problem of producing an anomaly-free set of fermions when we make no simplifying assumption about the fermions getting a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism. Then we shall consider the simpler case where we find anomaly-free sets of massive fermions but cannot satisfy the condition that there is no U(1) Landau pole below the Planck scale.

In chapter 5 we will see how the difficulties of chapter 4 can be overcome by also adding fermions which are SU(5) singlets; in particular a fourth generation of quarks but no fourth generation of leptons. We will also show how such a solution can be formulated in a more general gauge group. Once we have produced an acceptable model we then investigate in detail how well it agrees with the precision electroweak data and experimental limits on quark masses. We show that the model can be chosen in such a way that it is acceptable using current experimental data but that it is very close to current limits and will soon be confirmed or rejected by new data.

In chapter 6 we will discuss a different type of model. In some ways this model is similar to the others discussed in this thesis. However, the type of group is quite different and cannot really be claimed to be suggested by the SM. We will still have a charge quantisation rule (in fact 4 rules) but we will not introduce any more low mass fermions. The gauge group is an extension of the SMG but in this model the SMG is a diagonal subgroup of the full group. The SM fermion Yukawa couplings to the SM Higgs boson are viewed as effective couplings in a low energy effective theory. The fundamental Yukawa couplings to the Higgs bosons responsible for the symmetry breaking down to the SMG are assumed to be of order 1. The details of this symmetry breaking are parameterised and we vary the parameters to obtain the best order of magnitude fit to the SM fermion masses and mixing angles. We compare our results to a very similar model.

In chapter 7 we shall sum up the results of this thesis and discuss the overall merits of such models.

Chapter 2

Building a Consistent Extension of the Standard Model

2.1 Types of Extensions

There are many ways to extend the SM so the first step is to decide what type of extensions to consider. To do this we have decided to use the SM itself as a guide. By this we mean that we shall only consider extensions with features similar to the SM. This does, of course, rule out many popular models. Some of the models ruled out by our approach are; GUTs, SUSY models and any model which includes quantum gravity. GUTs are ruled out because the idea of coupling constant unification is not directly suggested by the SM. It is true that the gauge coupling constants almost converge at an energy of approximately 10¹⁵ GeV but it is now known that they do not meet exactly. It can be argued that this is a sign that there is unification and the reason it is not apparent is that the SM and simple GUTs are not correct and so do not give the correct RGEs. Indeed it is now known that SUSY GUTs can allow unification consistent with the current experimental measurements of the gauge coupling constants.

However, we do not consider SUSY theories because there is no evidence for

such theories, either from experiment or the structure of the SM itself. Introducing SUSY to explain the gauge hierarchy problem (why the electroweak scale is so much smaller than expected radiative corrections from a fundamental theory at the GUT or Planck scale) or to allow coupling constant unification is not justified in our approach of using known features of the SM which are apparent at low energies (energies accessible to current accelerators).

Models involving quantum gravity must be considered at some stage since it is widely accepted that the existence of classical relativity requires the existence of a fundamental quantum theory of gravity. Superstring theory is the current candidate for a theory that combines quantum field theory and quantum gravity in a consistent way. However, so far no-one has managed to solve the theory to predict physics below the Planck scale. So even if this theory is accepted, there are still many possibilities for models below the Planck scale. So our approach is to start from the SM and try to extend this accepted model to other possible models below the Planck scale. We will assume that our models are valid up to the Planck scale and that some fundamental theory such as string theory will then unify the model with quantum gravity.

In this chapter we will discuss in detail the type of extensions we do consider and try to justify our method. Then we shall discuss how our extensions fit in with the theoretical constraints of anomaly cancellation. Finally we shall discuss how our methods can be used to reproduce the generation of quarks and leptons within the SM itself. This can be seen as a check that our methods are consistent with the idea of using only fundamental features of the SM.

2.2 Extrapolations From the SM

In this section we discuss aesthetic extrapolations from the SM. These are features of the SM which have no obvious explanation but in some way can be used to specify the model almost uniquely. We try to pick out these features and carry them over to or generalise them in our extended models. This is a method of selecting a particular type of model and our view is that this is the most logical method although the features chosen may of course be subject to personal prejudice.

2.2.1 Extending the Gauge Group and Charge Quantisation

As stated in section 1.4, an obvious way of extending the SM is to extend the gauge group. The SMG is:

$$SMG \equiv U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)/\hat{D}_3 \tag{2.2.1}$$

where the discrete group

$$\hat{D}_3 \equiv \{ (e^{i2\pi/6}, -I_2, e^{i2\pi/3}I_3)^n : n \in \mathbb{Z}_6 \}$$
(2.2.2)

ensures the quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.67). We believe that the most obvious extension is to add more special unitary groups to the sequence $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes$ SU(3) and to use a different discrete group so that the quantisation rule above is generalised. In [7] it is argued that the group should be of the form

$$G_p \equiv U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3) \otimes SU(5) \otimes \cdots \otimes SU(p) / \hat{D}_p$$
(2.2.3)

where the product is over all SU(q) where q is a prime number less than or equal to the prime number p. The discrete group \hat{D}_p is defined as

$$\hat{D}_p \equiv \{ (e^{i2\pi/N_p}, -I_2, e^{i2\pi/3}I_3, e^{i2\pi m_5/5}I_5, \dots, e^{i2\pi m_p/p}I_p)^n : n \in \mathcal{Z}_{N_p} \}$$
(2.2.4)

where $N_p = 2 \times 3 \times 5 \times \cdots \times p$ and m_N is an integer which is not a multiple of N. In fact we can obviously choose $0 \le m_N \le N - 1$ since m_N is really only defined modulo N. We also have the freedom to choose that there are, for example, at least as many SU(2) doublets which are N representations of SU(N) as \overline{N} representations since we can conjugate SU(N) and set $m_N \to -m_N \pmod{N}$. We will use this fact later to eliminate duplicate solutions where all N-plets and anti-N-plets have been interchanged. This also allows us to fix $m_3 = 1$ rather than 2 as in the SM.

The group \hat{D}_p gives a generalised quantisation rule:

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \text{``duality''} + \frac{1}{3} \text{``triality''} + \frac{m_5}{5} \text{``quintality''} + \dots + \frac{m_p}{p} \text{``p-ality''} \equiv 0 \pmod{1} \qquad (2.2.5)$$

We will also consider the more general groups defined as:

$$SMG_{2N_1N_2...N_k} \equiv U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(N_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes SU(N_k) / D_{2N_1...N_k}$$
(2.2.6)

where

$$D_{2N_1\dots N_k} \equiv \{ (e^{i2\pi/\hat{N}}, -I_2, e^{i2\pi m_{N_1}/N_1} I_{N_1}, \dots, e^{i2\pi m_{N_k}/N_k} I_{N_k})^m : m \in \mathcal{Z}_{\hat{N}} \}$$
(2.2.7)

Here $\hat{N} = 2 \times N_1 \times \cdots \times N_k$ and the N_i are odd and mutually prime (we can obviously assume they are arranged in ascending order). So the charge quantisation rule is:

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2}d + \frac{m_{N_1}}{N_1}n_1 + \dots + \frac{m_{N_k}}{N_k}n_k \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$$
(2.2.8)

where we have defined d to be the duality and n_i to be the N_i -ality of a representation. The groups SMG_{23N} are the minimal extensions of the $SMG \ (\equiv SMG_{23})$ which are inspired by the SMG, in the sense that each is also a cross product of U(1) and a set of distinct special unitary groups, with a charge quantisation rule involving all the direct factors, and contains the SMG as a subgroup.

It has been suggested that a defining property of the SMG is that it has few outer automorphisms relative to the rank of the group [10]. This can be described by saying that it is very skew. If we accept this principle, which is suggested by random dynamics [7], then the groups $SMG_{2N_1N_2...N_k}$ are naturally suggested as alternatives to the SMG. In particular, the requirement that all the N_i be mutually prime and the definition of the discrete group $D_{2N_1N_2...N_k}$ follow from this principle. In fact, the stronger requirement that all N_i should be prime is suggested [11]. Alternatively we can derive eq. (2.2.8) directly as a natural generalisation of the SM charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.67).

We can also consider the charge quantisation rules and the condition that the N_i should be mutually prime to be suggested by the SM charge quantisation rule. This is because the generalised quantisation rule shares the property with the SM rule, eq. (1.4.67), that a given allowed value of $\frac{y}{2}$ implies a unique combination of *N*-alities: (duality, triality, ..., N_i -ality, ...)¹. This is true provided we also make the assumption about small representations which we discuss in the next section.

Of course it is possible that the apparent charge quantisation rule in the SM is simply due to chance; i.e. the fermions in the SM just happen to obey that particular rule. However we believe that the quantisation rule is a fundamental feature of the SM; so we argue that it is very difficult to see how there cannot be a generalisation of this rule in an extended model, while still retaining the general features of the SM. In fact the form of the generalised charge quantisation rule is suggested from the SM and there seems to be little choice in selecting the rule since the SM rule appears to be the one which involves all the direct factors equivalently. It could even be argued that the choice of the most complicated charge quantisation rule in some way defines the SMG. This is why we have divided out the discrete groups \hat{D}_p and $D_{2N_1...N_k}$.

2.2.2 Small Representations

In the SM, for each SU(N) group, the fermion representations are either N-plet (N), anti-N-plet (\overline{N}) or singlet (1). This can be described by saying that all the

¹This corresponds to the global group, associated with the generalised charge quantisation rule, having a connected centre [7].

fermions lie in fundamental representations of each SU(N) group to which they couple. We pick this as a feature of the SM which we shall extend to our models. We note here that this is in contrast to some other attempts to extend the SM. For example in SUSY there are fermions in other representations (e.g. gauginos in adjoint representations). Fundamental representations are also suggested in [12] since these make the Weyl equation most stable when considering random dynamics².

Another feature is that the weak hypercharge is in some way minimised in the SM, subject of course to the constraints of anomaly cancellation and charge quantisation, as we shall show in section 2.5. So in our extended model we will choose hypercharge values close to zero whenever possible. More precisely, we choose to minimise the sum of weak hypercharges squared over all fermions. This will also minimise the running of the U(1) gauge coupling constant and so give each model the best chance of being consistent up to the Planck scale, which we require as stated in section 2.2.3.

2.2.3 Higher Energies - Desert Hypothesis

The SM has been tested at energies up to a few hundred GeV. There have been many theories proposed which would be valid at energy scales ranging from 1 TeV up to the Planck scale around 10^{16} TeV. Many of these theories have a large range of energy where no new physics occurs. One example is GUTs where there is typically no new physics from the SM energy scale up to the grand unification scale around 10^{12} TeV. An alternative is that there is no new physics until the Planck scale where we can be almost certain that quantum gravity will have a

²In fact, from this point of view, each representation of the full gauge group should only be non-singlet with respect to one non-Abelian factor. This is not true for the left-handed quarks but is true for all other fermions in the SM. However the left-handed quarks are required in order that there are no gauge anomalies. So we can consider that the Weyl equation is as stable as possible if we only have small representations.

significant effect. We shall adopt this view for our extended models. This means that once we have set the mass scale for the fermions in the extended model, we can calculate the running coupling constants and check to see if there is a Landau pole below the Planck scale, i.e. whether the U(1) gauge coupling becomes infinite below the Planck scale. If there is a Landau pole then we will conclude that such a model is not consistent.

2.3 Alternative Groups

In this section we shall describe some alternative extensions of the SM. We will consider groups similar to those we are examining in the main part of this thesis in the sense that they contain the SMG and additional special unitary group factors. This obviously does not include models which unify the individual components of the SMG or models which involve SUSY. There have been many such models and the additional symmetries are usually used to explain; coupling constant unification, the number of families in the SM, or the fermion mass hierarchy, in a fairly natural way.

In the models described in section 2.2.1 the SM fermions cannot couple to any new gauge fields because of the charge quantisation rule. This is due to the fact that all values of $\frac{y}{2}$ in the SM are multiples of $\frac{1}{6}$ and so the charge quantisation rule, eq. (2.2.8), forces the SM fermions to be singlets of all SU(N) groups where N > 3 due to our assumption about small representations.

However the situation is more complicated if we allow more than one SU(N)gauge group for any particular N. Where we have N = 2 or 3 there are two distinct cases. In the first case the SM group SU(N) is an invariant subgroup of the extended group. We then call the extra SU(N) groups a horizontal symmetry. In the other case the SU(N) group in the SMG is not an invariant subgroup and is generally a diagonal subgroup of the extended group.

2.3.1 Invariant Subgroup Case: Horizontal Symmetries

If we have one more SU(2) or SU(3) group then we can have a horizontal symmetry (a non-abelian symmetry which places fermions from different generations in the same multiplet). The idea of a gauged horizontal symmetry is not new and has been used to try and explain the mass hierarchy of the SM fermions [13]. However, an SU(N) group with N > 3 is not a possible horizontal symmetry without introducing many more fermions because there are only 3 generations of SM fermions and the smallest non-trivial representation of SU(N) is the N-plet. For example if N = 5 we would have an SU(5) horizontal symmetry and so we would need at least 5 generations of SM fermions. Even with 5 generations this would not fit into our type of models since the SM fermions could not then obey the charge quantisation rule,

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{d}{2} + \frac{t}{3} + m_5 \frac{q}{5} \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$$
 (2.3.9)

where $q \equiv$ quintality \equiv 5-ality. Therefore we will only consider SU(3) and SU(2) groups as candidates for a horizontal symmetry.

If the horizontal symmetry gauge group is $SU(3)_H$ then we must place fermions from different generations in the same triplet (or anti-triplet). It turns out that the only way to do this, avoiding anomalies (see section 1.1) and not introducing any new fermions, is to put all fermions in the same (or conjugate) representation of $SU(3)_H$ as they are in the colour group, $SU(3)_C$, of the SM; so that all three generations of left-handed quarks are put in a triplet (or anti-triplet) of $SU(3)_H$ etc. However, the SM fermions would not then obey the charge quantisation rule which might be expected, similar to eq. (2.2.8):

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2}d + \frac{1}{3}t_C + \frac{1}{3}t_H \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$$
(2.3.10)

If the horizontal symmetry group is $SU(2)_H$ then we can make some or all SM fermions triplets of $SU(2)_H$. This would allow the fermions to satisfy the charge quantisation rule but triplets are not the smallest representations of SU(2) and so we do not favour this as explained in section 2.2.2. We could place some fermions in doublets of $SU(2)_H$. This could be done, without introducing any anomalies, by placing two generations of quarks in the same doublet or taking two generations and placing the fermions in the same representation of $SU(2)_H$ as they are in the electroweak group $SU(2)_L$. Different doublets could connect fermions from a different pair of generations. For example left-handed quarks from the first and second generations could be in the same doublet, right-handed 'up' quarks from the first and third generations could be in the same doublet and right-handed 'down' quarks from the second and third generations could be in the same doublet. This would not give any anomalies though it is difficult to see how this could be used to explain the fermion masses.

The main problem with these types of models is that fermions in different generations with very different masses are put in the same multiplet. This means that the fermions would naturally get the same mass. It is difficult to break the symmetry in such a way that the masses of all the different fermions are split by realistic amounts [13].

To sum up, we do not consider these possibilities in this thesis because triplets of SU(2) are not fundamental representations and the other possibilities, with fermions in fundamental representations of the gauge groups $SU(2)_H$ or $SU(3)_H$, mean that the fermions could not obey the extended charge quantisation rule. Of course models involving horizontal symmetries do not enforce such charge quantisation rules or require small representations of $SU(2)_H$.

2.3.2 Non-invariant Subgroup Case: *SMG* as Diagonal Subgroup

In the case where, for example, the $SU(3)_C$ subgroup of the SMG is not an invariant subgroup of the full gauge group, the only possibility is that it is a diagonal (or anti-diagonal) subgroup of $SU(3)^n$ for some integer n. In this type of

model different generations can couple to different SU(2) and SU(3) gauge groups in the full gauge group. There would then be symmetry breaking to produce the SMG in such a way that $SU(3)_C$ could be said to be a diagonal subgroup of all the SU(3) groups in the full group which exists at energies higher than the symmetry breaking scale. In other words, $SU(3)_C$ is then the subgroup in which all the SU(3) groups undergo the same transformations. In this way it is trivial to cancel all the anomalies since each generation of quarks and leptons cancel all anomalies separately and couple to a $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$ subgroup of the full group in the same way as they couple to the SMG. This is in contrast to the invariant subgroup case where the SM fermions had to couple to the SMG and also to other subgroups of the full gauge group. Also, in the diagonal case, the dimension of each representation is the same as in the SM, whereas, in the invariant subgroup case, the dimensions were larger since different SM representations were combined under the horizontal symmetry.

This type of model has been proposed [14] as an alternative to horizontal symmetries or grand unification. Examples include topcolour models [15] and the anti-grand unification model [16], where the group $SMG^3 \equiv SMG \otimes SMG \otimes SMG$ has been used to successfully predict the values of the gauge coupling constants. The anti-grand unification model has also been analysed as a model to explain the hierarchy of SM fermion masses [17]. Here the extended model with gauge group $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$ has been fairly successful at reproducing the observed fermion masses in an order of magnitude approximation (reproducing all SM fermion masses within a factor of 2 or 3). The extra $U(1)_f$ gauge symmetry is called a flavour symmetry and is required to produce the observed mass differences within the second and third generations, e.g. $m_b \ll m_t$.

We note that the fermions in some of these models obey the extended charge quantisation rules which we would expect. For example the fermions in the SMG^3

model obey the charge quantisation rules:

$$\frac{y_i}{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_i + \frac{1}{3}t_i \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$$
(2.3.11)

where the three copies of the SMG are labelled by i = 1, 2 and 3. With three separate charge quantisation rules, this is not truly a straightforward extrapolation of the SM charge quantisation rule. However it is similar in the sense that these rules are required to produce the group SMG^3 which has as large a value of χ ³ as the SMG itself. The quantity χ measures how strongly intermingled the U(1) subgroups are with the semi-simple part via dividing discrete groups (i.e equivalently via the quantisation rule(s)). It happens that groups of the form SMG^n have the largest possible value of this measure; $\chi = log(6)/4$. The charge quantisation rules:

$$\frac{y_i}{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_i + \frac{1}{3}t_i \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$$
(2.3.12)

$$y_f \equiv 0 \pmod{1} \tag{2.3.13}$$

are chosen to maximise χ for the group $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$ among all those with the same algebra although this group does not have as large a value of χ as the SMG. In fact $\chi = \ln(6^3)/13 = \frac{12}{13}\ln(6)/4$ for the group $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$.

However, the symmetry breaking scale of the group SMG^3 is taken to be just below the Planck scale in the anti-grand unification model and in most of this thesis we wish to study the possibilities of new physics at much lower energies; energies of the same order of magnitude as the electroweak scale rather than the Planck scale. This is still possible in such a model but it then loses its ability to predict the gauge coupling constants. Topcolour models do introduce new dynamics at the TeV scale but in this thesis we shall not consider such models.

³The quantity χ is defined in [11] for any group G as $\chi(G) = \ln(q(G))/r(G)$ where r(G) is the rank of the group G. Further, q(G) is defined as the order of the factor group, obtained by dividing the group of all abelian charge combinations (y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_r) allowed for any representations of the group G, by the group of those abelian charge combinations allowed for representations trivial under the semi-simple part of the group G.

We will discuss the model with gauge group $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$ in chapter 6 where we will use it to try to explain the fermion masses and mixing angles in the SM. However, this is only a small part of this thesis so we will continue with our main approach where we look for models with new low mass fermions.

2.4 Fermion Mass and Anomaly Cancellation

In the SM fermions get a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism. To do this in a general gauge group of the form

$$U(1)\otimes SU(2)\otimes G/D$$

where G is any Lie group and D is a discrete group, a left-handed fermion representation $(y, 2, \mathbf{R})$ should occur together with the left-handed anti-fermion representations $(-[y+1], 1, \overline{\mathbf{R}})$ and $(-[y-1], 1, \overline{\mathbf{R}})$. We shall refer to this as the mass grouping $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$ where \mathbf{R} is a representation of G (irreducible in our models). As explained in section 3.1.1 we assume that all fermions in our models, other than the leptons which have already been observed, get a mass by this mechanism. We shall now describe what consequences this has for anomaly cancellation in our models, where G is a product of $SU(N_i)$ groups with $N_i \geq 3$.

We consider the grouping $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$ for the gauge group

$$U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes \prod_{i=1}^{k} SU(N_i)/D_{2N_1...N_k}$$

where the irreducible representation \mathbf{R} is made up of fundamental $(\mathbf{N}_i \text{ or } \overline{\mathbf{N}}_i)$ or singlet representations of each factor $SU(N_i)$. The contribution to each type of anomaly from this grouping, $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$, is easily calculated, using the results of section 1.1, to be as follows.

$$[SU(N_i)]^3 \rightarrow 2S_R n + S_R(-n) + S_R(-n) = 0$$

$$[SU(N_i)]^2 U(1) \rightarrow 2S_R n^2 y - S_R n^2 (y+1) - S_R n^2 (y-1) = 0$$

$$[Grav]^2 U(1) \rightarrow 2S_R y + S_R (-y-1) + S_R (-y+1) = 0$$

$$[U(1)]^3 \rightarrow 2S_R y^3 + S_R (-y-1)^3 + S_R (-y+1)^3 = -6S_R y$$

$$[SU(2)]^2 U(1) \rightarrow 2S_R y^3 + S_R (-y-1)^3 + S_R (-y+1)^3 = -6S_R y$$

Here n_i is the N_i -ality of the representation **R** and S_R is its dimension (size).

So we can see that the above grouping which is necessary to give a mass to the fermions also simplifies the anomaly constraints. In particular, if we take all fermions to be grouped in this way then we are only left with the single constraint for the absence of the mixed gauge-gravitational and gauge anomalies

$$\sum_{j} S_{j} y_{j} = 0 \tag{2.4.14}$$

where j labels each grouping $\{y_j, \mathbf{R}_j\}$.

There will also be no Witten anomaly, since we must have an even number of SU(2) doublets to satisfy eq. (2.4.14). This follows from the charge quantisation rule (2.2.8), the fact that N_i are all odd and the assumption of fundamental or singlet representations for each $SU(N_i)$ subgroup. Using the charge quantisation rule and defining

$$\frac{e_j}{d_j} = \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{m_{N_i}}{N_i} (n_i)_j \tag{2.4.15}$$

we can write

$$\frac{y_j}{2} = c_j + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{e_j}{d_j} \tag{2.4.16}$$

where c_j, d_j and e_j are integers and d_j are odd. Therefore, since eq. (2.4.14) can be written as $\sum_j S_j \frac{y_j}{2} = 0$, we must have $\sum_j S_j \frac{1}{2} \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$. In other words $\sum_j S_j \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$, which means that there are an even number of SU(2) doublets and so no Witten anomaly.

2.5 Deriving the SM Generation

In this section we shall first give a short description of the SM quarks and leptons which form all the known elementary fermions. We shall then show how the application of anomaly cancellation and some other assumptions can be used to derive a SM generation of quarks and leptons without making any specific assumptions about the fermion representations in the SM gauge group. We can derive not only the non-abelian representations but also the abelian representations (weak hypercharge) by using a charge quantisation rule. This is one of the reasons we consider the charge quantisation rule to be a fundamental feature of the SM and so justify generalising it in our extended models. Also, the assumptions required to derive the SM generation are used to derive the properties of fermions in our extended models.

Finally we compare our derivation to alternative methods of deriving the SM generation. The main difference is our use of the charge quantisation rule as a fundamental property of the gauge group rather than simply a consequence of the SM fermion representations. We consider this to greatly simplify the other assumptions needed to derive the SM generation.

2.5.1 The SM Generation

In the SM there are 3 generations of fermions which are identical except for their masses. Each generation consists of 15 Weyl fermions and can be divided into a lepton generation and a quark generation. The quarks couple to the SU(3) gauge group whereas the leptons are SU(3) singlets and so do not 'feel' the strong force. The properties of these fermions are shown in table 2.1. The fermions are labelled

as in the first (lightest) generation.

Generation	Fermion	Representation of	Representation	Electric Charge	
	Label	$SU(2)\otimes SU(3)$	of U(1), $\frac{y}{2}$	Q	
	$\left[\left(\begin{array}{c} u \\ d \end{array} \right) \right]_{L}$	2,3	$\frac{1}{6}$	$ \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{2}{3} \\ -\frac{1}{3} \end{array}\right) $	
Quark	\overline{u}_L	$1,\overline{3}$	$-\frac{2}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{3}$	
	\overline{d}_L	$1,\overline{3}$	$\frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{1}{3}$	
Lepton	$\left(\begin{array}{c}\nu_e\\e\end{array}\right)_L$	2,1	$-\frac{1}{2}$	$\left(\begin{array}{c}0\\-1\end{array}\right)$	
	\overline{e}_L	1,1	1	1	

Table 2.1: The lightest SM generation.

The quark generation is formed by the representations $(\frac{1}{3}, 2, 3)_L$, $(-\frac{4}{3}, 1, \overline{3})_L$ and $(\frac{2}{3}, 1, \overline{3})_L$ of the gauge group $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$. This is precisely the mass grouping $\{\frac{1}{3}, 3\}$ (where the representation **3** is of the gauge group SU(3)) described in section 2.4. All the quarks get a mass by the Higgs mechanism. The lepton generation is formed by the representations $(-1, 2, 1)_L$ and $(2, 1, 1)_L$ of the same gauge group. However, this is not the same as the mass grouping $\{-1, 1\}$ because there is no right-handed neutrino (no anti-neutrino representation $(0, 1, 1)_L$) in the SM. This means that the neutrino is massless in the SM but the electron can still get a mass by the Higgs mechanism. However, the lepton generation gives the same contribution to all anomalies as the mass grouping $\{-1, 1\}$ would, since the right-handed neutrino would be totally neutral (i.e. would not interact with any gauge fields).

2.5.2 Derivation of the SM Generation

In fact, we can derive the SM generation using the following assumptions:

(i) The SM gauge group: $SMG \equiv S(U(2) \otimes U(3))$. This includes the charge quantisation rule eq. (1.4.67).

(ii) Mass protection: This means that we cannot have left- and right-handed fermions with the same representation of the SMG. Also we cannot have a right-handed neutrino since it can get a Majorana mass.

(iii) Anomaly cancellation: In addition to the cancellation of gauge anomalies, the Witten global SU(2) anomaly and the mixed gauge and gravitational anomaly must also be absent.

(iv) Small representations: This means (c.f. section 2.2.2) that all fermions are in either fundamental or singlet representations of the SU(2) and SU(3) subgroups and the sum of weak hypercharge squared for all fermions is as small as possible.

So our aim is to minimise the value of $\sum_{i} S_{i} \left(\frac{y_{i}}{2}\right)^{2}$ (where S_{i} is the dimension of representation *i* with weak hypercharge y_{i}) for all possible choices of mass protected fermions in fundamental or singlet representations of SU(2) and SU(3), assuming the charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.67), and cancelling all relevant anomalies. We note that for one SM generation (which satisfies assumptions (i) to (iii))

$$\sum_{i} S_{i} \left(\frac{y_{i}}{2}\right)^{2} = \frac{10}{3} \tag{2.5.17}$$

and we show that there is no other mass protected solution of the anomaly constraints with

$$\sum_{i} S_i \left(\frac{y_i}{2}\right)^2 \le \frac{10}{3} \tag{2.5.18}$$

So we shall prove that one SM generation also satisfies assumption (iv) and thus we will show that assumptions (i) to (iv) define the SM generation. Note that Table 2.2: Contributions of $S\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^2$ for all fundamental and singlet representations of SU(2) and SU(3) for any value of weak hypercharge which satisfies eq. (1.4.67). All 'N's are integers so that the charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.67), is satisfied. S is the dimension of the non-abelian representation.

	Representation of		
Type	$SU(2)\otimes SU(3)$	<u>y</u> 2	$S\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^2$
a	2,3	$N_a + \frac{1}{6}$	$6N_a^2 + 2N_a + \frac{1}{6}$
b	$2,\overline{3}$	$N_b - \frac{1}{6}$	$6N_b^2 - 2N_b + \frac{1}{6}$
с	1,3	$N_c - \frac{1}{3}$	$3N_c^2 - 2N_c + \frac{1}{3}$
d	1,3	$N_d + \frac{1}{3}$	$3N_d^2 + 2N_d + \frac{1}{3}$
e	2,1	$N_e - \frac{1}{2}$	$2N_e^2 - 2N_e + \frac{1}{2}$
f	1,1	N_f	N_f^2

in order to satisfy assumption (iv) we must satisfy eq. (2.5.18) ⁴. So in the following analysis we will implicitly assume eq. (2.5.18). Table 2.2 shows all allowed representations and their contribution of $S\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^2$.

⁴This requirement of small values of weak hypercharge is different from other approaches where the aim is usually to find the minimum number of fermions. The charge quantisation rule means that all fermions will have non-zero weak hypercharge (we don't consider right-handed neutrinos) and so the solution will not have a large number of fermions, but it will not necessarily be the minimum number. When considering groups with SU(N) where N > 5 we will look for the minimum number of fermions since this is simpler and will usually produce the solution with minimum sum of weak hypercharges squared. In order to satisfy eq. (2.5.18) we must choose $N_a = N_b = 0$, $N_c \in \{0,1\}$, $N_d \in \{-1,0\}$, $N_e \in \{0,1\}$ and $N_f \in \{-1,1\}$. (We don't consider $N_f = 0$ because this would be a right-handed neutrino which would not contribute to any anomalies and would be expected to get a Majorana mass of the order of the Planck mass). This means that we cannot have mass protected fermions of both types a and b. So we can choose, without loss of generality, that there are no fermions of type b^{-5} . So we get table 2.3 which shows all allowed fermions and contributions to some anomalies.

For mass protection we cannot have any of the following combinations; types c_1 and d_1 , types c_2 and d_2 , types e_1 and e_2 , or types f_1 and f_2 (all defined in table 2.3). Also note that all the types of representations in table 2.3 contribute to the mixed anomaly, $\sum_i S_i y_i$. This means that we cannot use only type f fermions to produce an anomaly-free set of mass protected fermions. Therefore, if no fermions couple to the SU(3) group, we would require some fermions of either type e_1 or e_2 . But then there would be no way to cancel the $[SU(2)]^2U(1)$ anomaly. So we can conclude that some fermions must couple to SU(3).

Suppose there are no fermions of type a. Then the above arguments mean that, to cancel the $[SU(3)]^3$ anomaly, we must have equal numbers of either types c_1 and d_2 or types c_2 and d_1 . But then there is no way to cancel the $[SU(3)]^2U(1)$ anomaly. So we have a contradiction which, means that there must be at least one type a.

The $[SU(2)]^2U(1)$ anomaly must be cancelled by having as many type e_1 as type a. So there are no type e_2 due to the principle of mass protection. Again using the principle of mass protection, the only way to cancel the $[SU(3)]^3$ and $[SU(3)]^2U(1)$ anomalies is by having the number of types a, d_1 and d_2 the same. So we can now cancel the $[U(1)]^3$ and mixed anomalies using table 2.4.

So we can see that the anomaly-free set of mass protected fermions which

⁵Choosing no fermions of type *a* would lead to an equivalent solution with opposite chirality.

	Representation of					
Type	$SU(2)\otimes SU(3)$	<u>y</u> 2	$S\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^2$	$[SU(3)]^{3}$	$[SU(3)]^2U(1)$	$[SU(2)]^2U(1)$
a	2,3	$\frac{1}{6}$	$\frac{1}{6}$	2	$\frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{1}{2}$
c_1	1,3	$-\frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{1}{3}$	1	$-\frac{1}{3}$	0
c_2	1,3	$\frac{2}{3}$	<u>4</u> 3	1	$\frac{2}{3}$	0
d_1	$1,\overline{3}$	<u>1</u> 3	$\frac{1}{3}$	-1	$\frac{1}{3}$	0
d_2	$1,\overline{3}$	$-\frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{4}{3}$	-1	$-\frac{2}{3}$	0
e_1	2,1	$-\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	0	0	$-\frac{1}{2}$
e_2	2,1	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	0	0	$\frac{1}{2}$
f_1	1,1	-1	1	0	0	0
f_2	1,1	1	1	0	0	0

Table 2.3: All allowed representations of fermions which could be used to satisfy eq. (2.5.18) and their contributions to some anomalies.

Types	$G^2U(1)$	$[U(1)]^3$	$S\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^2$
$a + d_1 + d_2 + e_1$	1 + 1 - 2 - 1 = -1	$\frac{1}{36} + \frac{1}{9} - \frac{8}{9} - \frac{1}{4} = -1$	$\frac{7}{3}$
f_1	-1	-1	1
f_2	1	1	1

Table 2.4: Allowed combinations of fermions and their contribution to the remaining anomalies.

minimises the sum of the weak hypercharges squared is one of type a, d_1, d_2, e_1 and f_2 . This is one SM quark-lepton generation.

2.5.3 Alternative Derivations of the SM Generation

There have been other attempts to derive the SM generation using various assumptions. Most notably Geng and Marshak [18] have tried to derive the SM generation using the constraints due to cancellation of anomalies. They also assume mass protection but not the charge quantisation rule eq. (1.4.67). Instead of minimising the sum of weak hypercharges squared they try to find the minimum number of fermions required to satisfy these assumptions.

The smallest number of Weyl fermions found by Marshak is 14. This solution consists of the following representations of the gauge group $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$: $(0, 2, 3)_L$, $(y, 1, \overline{3})_L$, $(-y, 1, \overline{3})_L$ and $(0, 2, 1)_L$. Geng and Marshak rule out this solution because the SU(2) doublet cannot acquire a Dirac or Majorana mass, even with the spontaneous symmetry breaking of the gauge group. However, we know from the SM that the neutrino is massless and so there doesn't appear to be any reason why massless fermions should be excluded from such an analysis. (We could obviously use phenomenological arguments but that would defeat the purpose of trying to derive the SM generation). They also object to this solution because they feel it trivialises the cancellation of the mixed gravitational and gauge anomaly. In what sense the anomaly condition is trivial is not entirely clear since not all fermions have zero weak hypercharge; but also why should it matter if a constraint is trivially satisfied? In our derivation this solution does not occur because of the charge quantisation rule. So by enforcing the charge quantisation rule, which we have taken as one of the defining properties of the SMG in section 2.2.1, we can avoid this solution without introducing dubious arguments about fermion masses or not allowing 'trivial' cancellation of anomalies.

So, if we add the assumption of the charge quantisation rule, we would expect to find that the SM generation is the smallest possible number of Weyl fermions. However, there are smaller solutions which have not been considered by Geng and Marshak. These solutions have 12 Weyl fermions and do not couple to the SU(3) subgroup. The fermions belong to 6 SU(2) doublets with values of weak hypercharge given by, for example, -9, -9, 1, 1, 5, 11. This set of 12 Weyl fermions has a huge sum of weak hypercharges squared but this could obviously be changed by scaling all the weak hypercharges to smaller values. Without assuming the charge quantisation rule this would be possible. This solution appears to have been ignored because Geng and Marshak implicitly assumed that at least one fermion must couple to each part of the gauge group. However, we wish to find a consistent method of deriving the SM generation and so this must be considered as an additional assumption.

So if we then also add the assumption that all subgroups must have some fermion coupling to them, we can almost derive the SM generation. The problem is that we can scale all values of weak hypercharge for the SM fermions by a factor of (6n + 1) where n is any integer ⁶. The SM generation is obviously the

⁶Without the charge quantisation rule we could scale the weak hypercharges by an arbitrary amount. Then we couldn't use the procedure of minimising the sum of hypercharges squared since this would obviously force all values to zero. There is then no way to fix the scale other

solution with the values of hypercharge closest to zero. We can express this by choosing to minimise the sum of hypercharges squared for this solution. But since we must introduce such an assumption why not use it from the start?! This then allows us to drop two of the above assumptions; that all subgroups must have a fermion coupling to them and that we should look for the smallest number of Weyl fermions. We are then left with the four assumptions used in section 2.5.2 which we have already tried to justify in this thesis. This seems more reasonable than introducing more assumptions with no justification.

than by assuming the fermions get a mass by the Higgs mechanism and fixing the scale to the weak hypercharge of the Higgs boson. So the charge quantisation rule effectively introduces a scale for the weak hypercharge independent of any Higgs bosons.

Chapter 3

Experimental Constraints on New Fermions

In this section we shall discuss the constraints on our models which are due to experimental evidence. In particular we are concerned with the possibilities for the existence of more fermions and what restrictions can be imposed both directly and indirectly on their mass. Some difficulty arises since fermions may be confined and so not directly observable. This means that direct experimental restrictions will refer to the mass of particles which are combinations of these fermions, like hadrons in the case of quarks.

3.1 Experimental Limits on Fermion Masses

First we shall discuss the constraints on fermion masses due to the fact that so far no non-SM fermions have been observed. We shall show that this rules out any extra massless fermions and then give current limits on the masses of different type of new fermions.

3.1.1 Massless Fermions

Only three massless fermions have been observed and they are the three massless neutrinos described in the SM (even if the neutrinos do have a small mass we know that there are only 3 with a mass less than $\frac{1}{2}M_Z$). Any other massless fermions, which had any significant coupling to the SM fermions or gauge bosons, would have been observed if they were not confined. When we assume fermions belong only to fundamental and singlet representations (as postulated in section 2.2.2), the charge quantisation rule in our models ensures that the only possible fermions which would not be electrically charged would be neutrinos. A left-handed neutrino without a right-handed neutrino would be massless as in the SM. We already know that there are only three such neutrinos and so we cannot consider this as a possibility for new fermions. A right-handed neutrino would be completely decoupled from the gauge group and so it could get a gauge invariant Majorana mass. So we would expect that it would have a mass $\sim M_{Planck}$ and so it is excluded as a low mass fermion in our models. Therefore any new massless fermions in our models must be electrically charged and so must also be confined by a new interaction well above the QCD scale, on phenomenological grounds.

If there is a confined gauge group then we assume that fermion condensates will be formed as in QCD. If a fermion doesn't have a chiral partner with respect to some confined group H, the condensates formed will break the group H. So if we assume that there is no spontaneous gauge symmetry breaking, other than that of the electroweak symmetry group, no fermions can be chiral w.r.t. G where the full gauge group is $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes G/D$ (where D is some discrete group). In our models the extra SU(N) gauge groups are all confining (with negative beta functions), so that $G \equiv H$. This leads to the phenomenological requirement that all new fermions with a mass much lower than the fundamental scale (Planck scale) should get a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism.

If the left- and right-handed fermions occur with the same representations of

the full gauge group $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes G/D$, then the fermions can form a Dirac mass term in the Lagrangian. So they would be expected to get a mass comparable to the fundamental scale, which we take to be the Planck mass in our models. Such fermions would not contribute to any anomalies and would not be observable because of their high mass. We shall therefore ignore them in our models. If a fermion cannot form such a fundamental Dirac (or Majorana) mass term then we say it is mass protected, since it would be fundamentally massless and could only get a mass indirectly through some interaction such as the Higgs mechanism. All the fermions considered in our models are mass protected by the electroweak interactions.

We conclude that all new fermions in our models must get their mass from the Higgs mechanism. Furthermore, they must couple to the usual SM Higgs particle in the same way as the SM fermions. In other words, the fermion condensates must have the same quantum numbers as the SM Higgs boson; otherwise their contributions to the W^{\pm} and Z^{0} masses, via the usual technicolour [9] mechanism, would be analogous to those from the vacuum expectation values of Higgs particles with non-standard weak isospin and hypercharges. This would lead to a significant deviation of the ρ parameter ($\rho \equiv \frac{M_W^2}{M_Z^2 \cos^2 \theta_W}$) from unity [19] in contradiction with precision electroweak data.

3.1.2 Massive Fermions

In the SM there are two different types of fermions, quarks and leptons, which differ by the fact that quarks couple to the SU(3) gauge fields and so are confined, whereas leptons have no direct coupling to the SU(3) gauge fields and are not confined. There are experimental limits on the masses of any quarks and leptons which have not yet been observed. If there are any more leptons then they must have a mass greater than 45 GeV [5]. We shall assume that there are no more leptons, since even the neutrino would have to get a mass larger than this and it is difficult to see how a neutrino could naturally be given a mass greater than 45 GeV but still much lower than the fundamental scale (which is the Planck scale in our models). This is because a right-handed neutrino, as already discussed in section 3.1.1, would naturally get a Majorana mass and so the see-saw mechanism [20] would leave the left-handed neutrino with a very small mass. For this reason we cannot allow any more generations of SM leptons. However the limits on the quark masses are dependent on the type of quark and its decay modes.

The top quark has recently been observed by the CDF [21] and D0 [22] collaborations. The mass is in the range 150-220 GeV. We will assume that $M_t \approx 170$ GeV, with a lower limit of 160 GeV which agrees well with the CDF analysis which is statistically better than the D0 analysis. For the purpose of this thesis we take the limit on possible fourth generation quarks, t' and b', to be

$$M_{t'}, M_{b'} > 130 \,\,{
m GeV}$$

from the dilepton analyses of the CDF [23] and D0 [24] groups (less restrictive limits apply if other decay modes are dominant). Note that experimental limits are taken to apply to the pole masses for heavy quarks.

The above experimental limits do not apply to new fermions which are not singlets of the additional SU(N) gauge groups. These fermions would be more difficult to detect experimentally and would anyway be confined inside 'hadrons' with a confinement scale (generically at the electroweak scale) much higher than the QCD scale. For this reason we will concentrate on the masses of new SM fermions and not make any precise assumptions about experimental lower limits for fermions coupling to SU(N) subgroups with N > 3.

We require our models to remain perturbative in the desert from the TeV scale to the Planck scale. So we can use the RGEs to examine how the Yukawa couplings evolve from the Planck scale down to the electroweak scale. In particular we study the infra-red quasi-fixed-point structure of the RGEs. In the SM the fixed point values provide upper limits on the mass of the top quark, M_t , and

the Higgs scalar, M_H . Similarly in extended models we get upper limits on the masses of the heaviest fermions, though the precise values depend on the relative masses of these fermions and also the unknown gauge coupling strength, g_N , of the SU(N) groups to which the fermions couple. Also we must be careful to point out that the RGEs describe the running of the Yukawa couplings and, as we discuss in section 3.2, the actual masses will be less than naively expected, due to the technicolour-like contribution from SU(N) to the electroweak VEV, v = 246 GeV. As we shall see, this will enable us to quite accurately predict the masses of some of the fermions we introduce in our model in chapter 5, since we have theoretical upper limits and experimental lower limits.

3.2 Technicolour Contributions

Technicolour theories [9] have been proposed as an alternative to the Higgs mechanism to provide a mass for the weak gauge bosons. This is based on the fact that QCD would provide a (very small) mass for these bosons without any Higgs scalars. Similarly any other confining SU(N) gauge groups, with fermions which are in non-trivial representations of $U(1) \otimes SU(2)$, are expected to form fermion condensates which would contribute to the W^{\pm} and Z^{0} masses. In our models the charge quantisation rule ensures that all fermions (except a right-handed neutrino) would be non-trivial under U(1). Thus all SU(N) groups in our models, which are coupled to fermions, will contribute to the weak boson masses.

We stress that we are not proposing a technicolour model as such, but simply taking into account the unavoidable effect that adding an SU(N) group has. We are assuming that the Higgs sector of our models is the same as in the SM, i.e. one Higgs doublet and that the fermion condensates have the same quantum numbers as the Higgs doublet. Then the VEV due to the Higgs field, $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle$, is related to the total VEV, v, and the contribution from SU(N) due to fermion condensates, F_{π_N} , by the relation

$$\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle^2 + F_{\pi_N}^2 = v^2 = (246.22 \text{ GeV})^2$$
 (3.2.1)

which is exactly the same as in technicolour models with a scalar [25].

The fermion running masses, m_f , are related to the Higgs field VEV in the usual way:

$$m_f = \frac{y_f}{\sqrt{2}} < \phi_{WS} > \tag{3.2.2}$$

where y_f is the Yukawa coupling constant for the fermion f (y is used for both Yukawa coupling and weak hypercharge but it should be obvious from the context which is being referred to). The running masses of the SM quarks and general SU(N)-"quarks" are related to the pole masses by eqs. (1.3.65) and (1.3.64) respectively. For SM quarks with a mass of order M_Z ,

$$M_f \approx 1.05 m_f(M_Z) \tag{3.2.3}$$

where M_f is the pole mass and $m_f(M_Z)$ is the running mass at $\mu = M_Z$.

In order to avoid any significant suppression of the top quark and other fermion masses, due to the reduction of $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle$ below its SM value, we usually imagine taking

$$F_{\pi_N} \leq 75 \text{ GeV} \tag{3.2.4}$$

and thus

$$\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle \geq 234 \text{ GeV}$$
 (3.2.5)

In fact we shall quote limits on fermion pole masses based on taking,

$$F_{\pi_N} = 75 \text{ GeV}$$
 (3.2.6)

$$\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle = 234 \text{ GeV}$$
 (3.2.7)

This means that we expect the SU(5) gauge group to have a confinement scale above the electroweak scale. By confinement scale we mean the mass of the lightest 'hadrons' other than Goldstone bosons. We can estimate this scale either by scaling QCD or using the estimates of [26]. We would expect the confinement scale to be approximately $5F_{\pi_N} \approx 400$ GeV. In fact [26] suggests that this estimate should be inversely proportional to \sqrt{N} so we have given the estimate for N = 5.

Eq. (1.3.65) gives the following relation for the pole mass of quark f:

$$M_{f} = \left(1 + \frac{4\alpha_{S}(M_{f})}{3\pi}\right) \frac{y_{f}(M_{f})}{\sqrt{2}} < \phi_{WS} >$$
(3.2.8)

In the approximation $M_f \approx M_Z$ we get,

$$M_f \approx 174 y_f(M_Z) \text{ GeV}$$
 (3.2.9)

This gives a quick guide to the value of the pole mass of a quark with mass of order M_Z but we will, of course, use eq. (3.2.8) when quoting the actual values of the pole mass for given values of Yukawa coupling.

For SU(N)-"quarks" (with N > 3) we will quote the pole masses based on the reduced value of $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle$ but this will not make much difference compared to the difference between two choices of SU(N) gauge couplings. Also, we will not be too concerned about the masses of SU(N)-"quarks" since they will be confined and the SU(N) confinement scale may be much higher than the electroweak scale. In this case the pole masses may not even be relevant.

Upper limits for fermion masses are obtained by using quasi-fixed-point values for the Yukawa coupling constants, y_f , as determined from the RGEs in viable models with a desert above the TeV scale. These infra-red fixed point Yukawa couplings are of order unity which would lead to thresholds for including these fermions in the RGEs at the electroweak scale. However for the purposes of investigating the behaviour of the gauge coupling constants, and especially to demonstrate that the U(1) coupling constant develops a Landau pole in our model without new SM fermions (chapter 4), we take a more generous single threshold of ten times the electroweak scale ~ 1.7 TeV for all new fermions in that model. For our discussion in chapter 5 of the model with a fourth generation of quarks we take the more stringent lower threshold value of M_Z , to demonstrate the absence of Landau poles in this case.

3.3 Precision Electroweak Data

Measurements of electroweak interactions are now accurate enough to be sensitive to loop corrections to propagators and vertex corrections. These effects are model dependent and can be sensitive to the values of some parameters such as fermion and Higgs masses. So far the SM seems to be consistent with the precision electroweak measurements and there is no experimental evidence that the SM is not correct. Obviously any other viable model should also agree with the data and in this section we discuss the experimental measurements of radiative corrections and the theoretical methods of calculating them.

There are many ways of parameterising the precision electroweak data. We choose the parameters S, T and U [27] which fully parameterise the precision data in the limit that all new fermions have infinite masses. However, these parameters are detailed enough provided none of the new fermions have masses less than the electroweak scale. These three parameters correspond to different types of radiative corrections.

The three parameters can be calculated perturbatively. If we consider an SU(2) doublet $\binom{U}{D}$ with fermion masses m_U and m_D , in the limit:

$$\delta m \equiv |m_U - m_D| \ll m_U , \ m_D \tag{3.3.10}$$

and

$$m \equiv m_U \approx m_D \gg m_Z \tag{3.3.11}$$

we obtain the following relations:

$$S \approx \frac{1}{6\pi} \tag{3.3.12}$$

$$T \approx \frac{1}{12\pi s^2 c^2} \left[\frac{(\delta m)^2}{m_Z^2} \right]$$
(3.3.13)

$$U \approx \frac{2}{15\pi} \left[\frac{(\delta m)^2}{m^2} \right]$$
 (3.3.14)

where $s \equiv \sin \theta_W$ and $c \equiv \cos \theta_W$.

These equations are really only valid when $m \gg m_Z$ but are a good approximation when $m > m_Z$. The main uncertainty comes from the fact that they are perturbative calculations and there is evidence from scaling known QCD effects that the contributions from new fermions may be larger than these estimates. However, it is by no means clear how to calculate these parameters non-perturbatively and so we shall assume that the perturbative calculation will be accurate enough. If we assume that the perturbative calculations are a lower limit then we can at least be sure that any model which appears to contradict experimental data is in fact ruled out.

The T parameter is a measure of the loop corrections to the ρ parameter. Contributions from each massive fermion are proportional to the difference of the masses squared between the fermions in the SU(2) doublet. Since the SM (including the top quark) is consistent with the measured value of T, we want the contribution from the new fermions, T_{new} to be small. We can arrange $T_{new} \approx 0$ by choosing the masses of the new fermions to be degenerate within each SU(2)doublet.

The SM is also consistent with the experimental value of U. So we want $U_{new} \approx 0$. Usually the U parameter is unimportant and can be assumed to be close to zero provided the model does not introduce anomalous W interactions [28] since it is suppressed relative to the T parameter by a factor of $\frac{m_Z^2}{m^2}$. Our models do not introduce such interactions but we will not always be considering $m \gg m_Z$. However, as is the case for T_{new} , a non-zero value of U_{new} requires a mass splitting in the SU(2) doublets. We are already making this small so that $T_{new} \approx 0$. Therefore we can safely consider the U parameter is, and so neglect it in our analysis.

So we are left to consider the S parameter. This parameter does not vanish in the limit of $\delta m = 0$ and $m \gg m_Z$. In fact, in this limit, the S parameter gets a contribution of $\frac{1}{6\pi}$ from each SU(2) doublet. So if we introduce $N_{Doublets}$ new SU(2) doublets, the contribution to S is given by,

$$S_{new} = \frac{N_{Doublets}}{6\pi} \tag{3.3.15}$$

An analysis of the precision electroweak data gives [29]:

$$S_{new} = -0.21 \pm 0.24_{\pm 0.17}^{-0.08} \tag{3.3.16}$$

where the second error is from the Higgs mass M_H . The central value is for $M_H = 300$ GeV, the upper second error for $M_H = 1000$ GeV and the lower one for $M_H = 60$ GeV. So if we take the lower limit $M_H = 60$ GeV,

$$S_{new} \approx 0 \pm 0.24 \tag{3.3.17}$$

and so $N_{Doublets}$ new SU(2) doublets would differ from the mean value by approximately $0.22N_{Doublets}$ standard deviations. Note here that the perturbative calculation of S_{new} predicts a positive contribution from the new fermions and so there is no way to cancel these contributions with other fermions. Therefore we can limit $N_{Doublets}$ by choosing how many standard deviations we are prepared to allow the model to differ from precision electroweak data. For example, if we wish our model to agree with the data for the S parameter to within 2 standard deviations, we must ensure that $N_{Doublets} \leq 9$.

Chapter 4

The SMG₂₃₅ Model Without New SM Fermions

Here we will examine the model based on the gauge group $SMG_{235} \equiv G_5$ defined by eqs. (1.4.70) and (1.4.71), since it is the absolute minimal extension to the SM among all the possible groups we have proposed in section 2.2.1. In chapter 5 we will consider models based on the more general groups SMG_{23N} of eqs. (2.2.6) and (2.2.7), including new SM fermions to highlight the general features of all such extensions to the SM. However we will only analyse the consequences in detail for the group SMG_{235} .

In this section we will discuss the two possibilities: (i) that there are no new fermions beyond those of the SM and (ii) that there are new fermions which all couple to the SU(5) gauge group. This latter possibility may seem to be tantamount to adding a completely separate sector to the SM rather than extending the SM, since the new fermions will be confined under a new gauge group. However, it is really no more a separate sector than the SM is three separate sectors (one for each generation), since these extra fermions will still couple to the electro-weak group due to the charge quantisation rule. We will discuss the other possibility, that there are new fermions, some coupling to the SU(5) gauge group and others
not, in chapter 5

4.1 No New Fermions

There is of course the possibility that there are no extra fermions associated with this enlarged group. If this is so then the only possible observations would be the detection of SU(5)-"glueballs". In this case the SU(5) gauge group would be decoupled from the SMG and so the only way to observe these "glueballs" would be through their gravitational interactions. They could have been produced in the very early universe and the lightest state would be essentially stable since they could only decay via the gravitational interaction. Therefore they would only be observable as dark matter.

So this case is essentially uninteresting (at least from the point of view of extending the SM) and will not be considered further. Instead we turn to the possibility that there exist more types of fermions than have been currently observed and consider whether or not they can be incorporated into a consistent model.

4.2 New Fermions Coupling to SU(5)

Of course fermions all contribute to anomalies which must be cancelled. The fermions in the SM cancel all anomalies on their own; so the extra fermions must cancel all anomalies amongst themselves. There are two cases examined in this section. Firstly the general case where massless fermions are allowed. In section 3.1.1 we have already argued that there should be no more massless fermions. However, we shall examine this general case for completeness since the argument against massless fermions was phenomenological. We will proceed with the analysis as far as possible but it will become clear how difficult it is to find the minimum solution in this case.

As we have discussed in section 2.4, the anomaly conditions are much simpler

in the case where all fermions must get a mass by the SM Higgs mechanism. This is also expected to be the only phenomenologically viable type of model as discussed in section 3.1.1. We will find the smallest number of fermions which cancel all anomalies and then show what happens to the running gauge coupling constants. We will see that this model contains a Landau pole and will also prove that all other models of this type also contain a Landau pole below the Planck scale.

4.2.1 General Case Including Massless Fermions

We have studied the case where we do not make the requirement that all fermions can get a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism. We used the general equations for anomaly cancellation and, by making assumptions of maximum numbers of fermions, we used some simple techniques to derive constraints on the number and types of fermions allowed. We also derived constraints on the allowed values of weak hypercharge. The detailed analysis is shown in appendix A.

The general constraint for the absence of the $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly is complicated. All the other constraints are linear and can be easily manipulated and simplified. So what we ended up with was some simple linear constraints and a complicated $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly constraint. This meant that we could not find any solutions of the anomaly equations. However, we did put several restrictions on the possible types of solution. We could solve the equations using a computer but since we don't think that solutions with massless fermions are likely to be phenomenologically acceptable we didn't proceed any further. Instead we will now examine the phenomenologically acceptable case where all fermions get a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism.

4.2.2 Only Massive Fermions

As explained in section 2.4 the anomaly equations in our models are greatly simplified when all the fermions are massive due to the SM Higgs mechanism. In fact they are reduced to just one equation, $\sum_i S_i y_i = 0$. If we label each mass-grouping of fermion representations by the label $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$ where \mathbf{R} is the representation of the group $SU(3) \otimes SU(5)$, then table 4.1 shows all six possible groupings, a to f, and their relative contributions, $S_i y_i$, to the anomaly equation. We use eq. (1.4.72), with the definition $m \equiv m_5$ to simplify the notation, giving us the charge quantisation rule,

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$$
 "duality" + $\frac{1}{3}$ "triality" + $\frac{m}{5}$ "quintality" $\equiv 0 \pmod{1}$ (4.2.1)

where the integer m is fixed in any given model ¹. So we can determine $\frac{y}{2} \pmod{1}$ for any given representation **R**.

For a solution to the anomaly equation $\sum_{i} S_{i}y_{i} = 0$, we must obviously combine the fractions $\frac{m}{5}$ so that the 5 is cancelled in the denominator since all Ns are integers. We must also have an even number of groupings so that the $\binom{1}{2}$'s combine to give an integer. This automatically ensures that there can be no Witten anomaly as explained in section 2.4. This can be done by using equal numbers of type *a* and type *b* groupings. The two smallest solutions are in fact: (i) one type *a* grouping and one type *b* grouping and (ii) two groupings of type *a* and two of type *b*. The smallest solution, (i), is not possible without giving the fermions a fundamental Dirac mass, since the anomaly constraints require that $N_{a} + N_{b} = 0$ giving pairs of representations, (y, 2, 1, 5) and $(-y, 2, 1, \overline{5})$ etc., which are not mass protected.

The smallest allowed solution with mass protected fermions is therefore solution (ii) with two groupings of type a and two of type b. This solution is shown

¹In fact we can limit m to be 1 or 2 since it is only defined modulo 5 and, by replacing m with $-m \pmod{5}$ and all representations of SU(5) with their conjugates, we are left with an equivalent model.

Table 4.1: Allowed mass groupings $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$ of new fermions in the SMG_{235} model, using the charge quantisation rule, eq. (4.2.1), and fundamental representations of SU(5). Their relative contributions to the anomaly equation, eq. (2.4.14), are given in the final column. A particular mass grouping of type t is given by choosing a particular value of weak hypercharge, i.e. by choosing a particular value of the integer N_t .

Туре	R	<u>y</u> 2	$\frac{1}{10}Sy$	
a	1, 5	$N_a - \frac{m}{5} - \frac{1}{2}$	$N_a - \frac{m}{5} - \frac{1}{2}$	
b	$1,\overline{5}$	$N_b + \frac{m}{5} + \frac{1}{2}$	$N_b + \frac{m}{5} + \frac{1}{2}$	
с	3,5	$N_c - \frac{m}{5} + \frac{1}{6}$	$3N_c - \frac{3m}{5} + \frac{1}{2}$	
d	$3,\overline{5}$	$N_d + \frac{m}{5} + \frac{1}{6}$	$3N_d + \frac{3m}{5} + \frac{1}{2}$	
e	$\overline{3}, 5$	$N_e - \frac{m}{5} - \frac{1}{6}$	$3N_e-rac{3m}{5}-rac{1}{2}$	
f	$\overline{3}, \overline{5}$	$N_f + \frac{m}{5} - \frac{1}{6}$	$3N_f + \frac{3m}{5} - \frac{1}{2}$	

in detail in table 4.2. All anomalies cancel provided $\sum_{i=1}^{4} N_i = 0$. We can now choose values of the N_i .

The fermion contribution to the (first order)beta function for the U(1) running gauge coupling constant is proportional to $\sum y^2$. We therefore want to choose values of N_i so as to minimise $\sum y^2$, in order that any U(1) Landau pole is at as high an energy as possible. This gives us the best chance that the solution of table 4.2 will be perturbatively valid up to the Planck scale and hence that our model will be self-consistent. However, this condition of minimising $\sum y^2$ is also suggested by the small representation structure of the SM, as explained in

Representation under	U(1) Representation	
$SU(2)\otimes SU(3)\otimes SU(5)$	<u>y</u> 2	
2, 1, 5	$N_1 - rac{m}{5} - rac{1}{2}$	
$1, 1, \overline{5}$	$-N_1 + \frac{m}{5}$	
$1,1,\overline{5}$	$-N_1 + \frac{m}{5} + 1$	
2, 1, 5	$N_2 - \frac{m}{5} - \frac{1}{2}$	
1,1,5	$-N_2 + \frac{m}{5}$	
$1,1,\overline{5}$	$-N_2 + \frac{m}{5} + 1$	
$2,1,\overline{5}$	$N_3 + \frac{m}{5} + \frac{1}{2}$	
1,1,5	$-N_3 - \frac{m}{5} - 1$	
1, 1, 5	$-N_3 - \frac{m}{5}$	
$2,1,\overline{5}$	$N_4 + \frac{m}{5} + \frac{1}{2}$	
1,1,5	$-N_4 - \frac{m}{5} - 1$	
1,1,5	$-N_4 - \frac{m}{5}$	

Table 4.2: Smallest anomaly-free (subject to the constraint $N_1 + N_2 + N_3 + N_4 = 0$) set of mass protected fermions which all couple to SU(5).

section 2.2.2. Keeping in mind that the N_i are integers, $\sum_{i=1}^4 N_i = 0$, and that the particles must be mass protected, we find that the minimum value of $\sum y^2$ is given by

$$N_1 = N_2 = 1$$
 $N_3 = 0$ $N_4 = -2$ or

$$N_3 = N_4 = -1 \quad N_1 = 0 \quad N_2 = 2$$

where m = 2. These values of N_i give $\sum y^2 = 203.2$, for the solution of table 4.2, which is much larger than the $\frac{40}{3}$ per generation of the SM particles.

In section 3.2 we explained that it was reasonable to consider that all new fermions could be included at a threshold no higher than 1.7 TeV. This should provide an accurate enough upper limit for the threshold for our purposes. Therefore, since the fermions will have the least effect on the running coupling constants if they are included at the highest possible threshold, we will assume that all these extra fermions can be included with a simple threshold at 1.7 TeV. We can now check whether or not this model has a Landau pole below the Planck scale.

There are four fine structure constants which we shall label by α_1 , α_2 , α_3 and α_5 corresponding to the four gauge groups U(1), SU(2), SU(3) and SU(5)respectively. The fine structure constants, α_i , are related to the gauge coupling constants, g_i , by the relation $\alpha_i = \frac{g_i^2}{4\pi}$. The equations governing the running coupling constants to first order in perturbation theory (a good discussion of RGEs in the SM is given in [30]) can be integrated analytically (see section 1.2.1) to give

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu_0)} - \frac{1}{12\pi} \left(Y^2 + n_H \right) ln \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0} \right)$$
(4.2.2)

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_2(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_2(\mu_0)} + \frac{1}{12\pi} \left(44 - 2n_{2f} - n_H\right) \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(4.2.3)

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_3(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_3(\mu_0)} + \frac{1}{12\pi} \left(66 - 2n_{3f} \right) \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(4.2.4)

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_5(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_5(\mu_0)} + \frac{1}{12\pi} \left(110 - 2n_{5f}\right) \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right)$$
(4.2.5)

where we calculate $\alpha_i(\mu)$ (the running coupling constants at the energy scale $(\mu > \mu_0)$ in terms of $\alpha_i(\mu_0)$. $Y^2 \equiv \sum y^2$ is the sum of the weak hypercharges squared for all fermions included at a threshold below μ_0 and n_{mf} are the number of fermion **m** and $\overline{\mathbf{m}}$ representations of SU(m) included at a threshold below μ_0 . n_H is the number of Higgs doublets included at a threshold below μ_0 . These equations assume that there are no fermions or Higgs scalars included at a threshold between μ_0 and μ . In order to calculate the value of $\alpha_i(\mu)$ when there are fermions or Higgs bosons included at a threshold between μ_0 and μ we must do the calculation in steps, calculating the value of α_i up to the included at a threshold each particle. So we use the experimental values of the fine structure constants at M_Z (including the top quark and Higgs boson in the beta functions at this scale) to calculate the coupling constants at 1.7 TeV, where we include the new fermions, and then run the coupling constants up to the Planck scale. This is a crude method since there would really be complicated threshold effects as each fermion was included. However these effects can reasonably be assumed to be small, relative to the changes in the coupling constants caused by the running from the electroweak scale to the Planck scale, and so we will use this much simpler method. Second order RGEs [31] could be used but the improvement over the first order RGEs would not be significant when compared to the error introduced by the naive assumptions made about threshold effects.

From [5] we find

$$\alpha_1^{-1}(M_Z) = 98.08 \pm 0.16 \tag{4.2.6}$$

$$\alpha_2^{-1}(M_Z) = 29.794 \pm 0.048 \tag{4.2.7}$$

$$\alpha_3^{-1}(M_Z) = 8.55 \pm 0.37 \tag{4.2.8}$$

We can now use the above equations to examine how the coupling constants behave up to the Planck scale. Since there is no experimental value for α_5 at any energy scale we shall assume that $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2$, so that the SU(5) interaction is stronger than QCD at M_Z and confines above the electroweak scale. Fig. 4.1 shows what happens for each group. For the graphs, we normalise the U(1) gauge coupling as if the U(1) group were embedded in a simple group. This essentially corresponds to redefinition of g_1 .

$$(g_1^2)_{\rm GUT} \equiv \frac{5}{3}(g_1^2)_{\rm SM}$$
 (4.2.9)

$$(\alpha_1^{-1})_{\text{GUT}} \equiv \frac{3}{5} (\alpha_1^{-1})_{\text{SM}}$$
 (4.2.10)

as explained in section 1.2.1. So henceforth we use the standard GUT normalisation. Eqs. (4.2.2) and (4.2.6) now become,

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_1(\mu_0)} - \frac{1}{20\pi} \left(Y^2 + n_H \right) ln \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0} \right)$$
(4.2.11)

$$\alpha_1^{-1}(M_Z) = 58.85 \pm 0.10 \tag{4.2.12}$$

As we can see from fig. 4.1, $\frac{1}{\alpha_1}$ becomes negative at about 10⁷ GeV which means that there is a U(1) Landau pole. So we can conclude that this theory would be inconsistent, at least as far as perturbation theory is concerned, without new interactions below 10⁷ GeV.

In fact we can show that there is no anomaly-free model, having all new fermions getting a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism and belonging to fundamental representations of SU(5), with a desert above the TeV scale, which does not have a Landau pole below the Planck scale. The condition for no Landau pole below the Planck scale is $\frac{1}{\alpha_1(M_{Pl})} > 0$. Therefore eq. (4.2.11) can be rearranged to give

$$Y^{2} + n_{H} < \frac{20\pi}{\alpha_{1}(\mu_{0})ln\left(\frac{M_{Pl}}{\mu_{0}}\right)}$$
(4.2.13)

Since, for the SM, $Y_{SM}^2 = 40$ and $n_H = 1$,

$$Y^2 + n_H \ge 41 \tag{4.2.14}$$



Figure 4.1: α^{-1} from M_Z to the Planck scale for each component group in the SMG_{235} model without new SM fermions. There is clearly a U(1) Landau pole at $\mu \sim 10^7$ GeV and SU(2) also loses asymptotic freedom. $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2$ has been chosen as a specific example.

above the electroweak scale and so we can use eqs. (4.2.11) and (4.2.12) to calculate an upper limit for $\frac{1}{\alpha_1(1.7TeV)}$:

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1(1.7TeV)} \le 57 \tag{4.2.15}$$

We then use $Y^2 = Y_{SM}^2 + Y_{new}^2$ in eq. (4.2.13) with $\mu_0 = 1.7$ TeV and conclude that

$$Y_{new}^2 < 57.5 \tag{4.2.16}$$

assuming the new fermions can be included naively at a threshold no higher than 1.7 TeV.

For each mass grouping $\{y, \mathbf{R}\}$, with $P_R = 4S_R$ fermions, we can calculate the value of Y^2 :

$$Y^{2} = S_{R}[2y^{2} + (y+1)^{2} + (y-1)^{2}] = S_{R}(4y^{2} + 2)$$
(4.2.17)

Therefore we have,

$$Y^2 \ge 2S_R = \frac{1}{2}P_R$$
 (4.2.18)

If there are several mass groupings, $Y^2 \ge \frac{1}{2} \sum P_R \equiv \frac{1}{2}P$ where P is the total number of fermions. So if we define P_{new} to be the number of non-SM fermions, we can conclude,

$$P_{new} \leq 2Y_{new}^2 < 115$$
 (4.2.19)

So now we have shown that there must be less than 115 extra fermions. However the smallest solutions, subject to the constraints in this section, larger than two type a and two type b representations are three type a and one type c representations etc. which contain 120 fermions and so must cause a Landau pole below the Planck scale ². Therefore there are no possible anomaly-free models without

²Using second order RGEs or a more complete analysis of thresholds would obviously change the precise limit in eq. (4.2.16). However, the charge quantisation rule in our model means that y cannot be zero and so it is not possible to attain the limit of eq. (4.2.18). So in fact, the value of Y_{new}^2 will generally be much greater than this limit. For example, three type a and one type c lead to $Y_{new}^2 \ge \frac{1708}{15} \approx 114$ which is much greater than the required maximum given by eq. (4.2.16).

a Landau pole, where all the new fermions couple to the SU(5) gauge group.

We will now examine the case where we allow some new SU(5) singlet fermions, as well as some fermions which couple to SU(5), in order to cancel the anomalies. We shall show that it is possible to have more SM fermions in such a model.

Chapter 5

The SMG₂₃₅ Model With New SM Fermions

In this chapter we shall first examine sets of fermions (which are generalisations of the SM quarks) in groups, SMG_{2M} and SMG_{2MN} , defined by eqs. (2.2.6) and (2.2.7), similar to the SMG. We shall then examine the particular case of a 4th generation of SM quarks along with a generation of SU(5)-"quarks" in a model with gauge group SMG_{235} . After showing this model to be self-consistent (with no Landau poles below the Planck scale), we will discuss the possibility of experimental evidence for and against the model. Finally, we will discuss the more general models with gauge group SMG_{23MN} with a generation of SU(M)and SU(N)-"quarks".

5.1 Fermions in the groups SMG_{2M} and SMG_{2MN}

In section 5.1.1 we shall examine the group SMG_{2M} . The SMG is an example of this type of group, with the particular choice of M = 3. We shall show that this general group allows anomaly-free sets of fermions which consist of a generation of SM leptons and a generation of SU(M)-"quarks" which are a simple generalisation of the SU(3) quarks in the SM.

We shall then show in section 5.1.2 that we can have anomaly-free sets of fermions in the group SMG_{2MN} without any leptons. We shall then examine the particular case of the group SMG_{235} which we shall discuss in detail since it contains the SMG and with N = 5 it is the smallest extension to the SMG allowed by our method.

5.1.1 Fermions in the Group SMG_{2M}

In the SM, each generation is formed by taking the two mass groupings $\{\frac{1}{3}, 3\}$ and $\{-1, 1\}$ (where the representations 3 and 1 are of the group SU(3)) as explained in sections 2.4 and 2.5. We will now consider a more general situation where we have the gauge group SMG_{2M} defined in section 2.2.1 (where $M \geq 3$ is an odd integer) and the fermions are in the groupings $\{y_1, M\}$ and $\{y_2, 1\}$ (where the representations M and 1 are of the group SU(M)).

From section 2.4 all the gauge anomalies will cancel if

$$My_1 + y_2 = 0 \tag{5.1.1}$$

Since we also have the charge quantisation rule

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$$
 "duality" + $\frac{m_{\rm M}}{\rm M}$ "M - ality" $\equiv 0 \pmod{1}$ (5.1.2)

we can write

$$\frac{y_1}{2} = -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{m_M}{M} + c_1 \tag{5.1.3}$$

$$\frac{y_2}{2} = -\frac{1}{2} + c_2 \tag{5.1.4}$$

where c_1 and c_2 are integers. We now have the condition that for no anomalies to be present

$$-\frac{M+1}{2} - m_M + Mc_1 + c_2 = 0 \tag{5.1.5}$$

In the SM a lepton generation is formed (with the addition of a right-handed neutrino which can be removed without affecting any anomalies) when we have $c_2 = 0$ as explained in section 2.5. If we insert this value into eq. (5.1.5) then we find,

$$c_1 = \frac{1}{M} \left(\frac{M+1}{2} + m_M \right)$$
(5.1.6)

This can always be solved by setting $m_M = \frac{M-1}{2}$ and $c_1 = 1$. In fact if M = 3 then this is simply one of the anomaly-free SM quark-lepton generations.

However, this is not a good solution for an extension of the SM (which would be obtained by considering $SMG_{2M} \subset SMG_{23M}$) since it contains an extra massless neutrino which has already been ruled out by experiment. It is difficult to produce a neutrino with a mass so large that it wouldn't already have been detected, as explained in section 3.1.2. We could choose not to set $c_2 = 0$ or 1 above, which would force all the extra leptons to be massive (by leptons we mean any fermions which are only coupled to the electroweak subgroup, $SU(2) \otimes U(1)$). This is because there would then be two SU(2) singlets which were charged (and at least one would have an electric charge of magnitude two or more, which is against our principle of small representations) and so both would be required to cancel anomalies unlike the case of a hypothetical right-handed neutrino. They would both then get a mass by the usual SM Higgs mechanism since neither could get a Majorana mass. But even if we assumed that these leptons had masses higher than experimental limits this solution is not really favoured by our postulate of small values of weak hypercharge discussed in section 2.2.2. So in order to find a satisfactory solution we shall look at a similar, more general, case.

5.1.2 Fermions in the Group SMG_{2MN}

Suppose we have the gauge group SMG_{2MN} , where both M and $N > M \ge 3$ are mutually prime odd integers, which has the charge quantisation rule

$$\frac{y}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \text{``duality''} + \frac{m_{M}}{M} \text{``M - ality''} + \frac{m_{N}}{N} \text{``N - ality''} \equiv 0 \pmod{1} \tag{5.1.7}$$

Then with fermions in mass groupings $\{y_1, (\mathbf{M}, \mathbf{1})\}$ and $\{y_2, (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{N})\}$ (where the representations $(\mathbf{M}, \mathbf{1})$ and $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{N})$ are of the group $SU(M) \otimes SU(N)$) the condition for no anomalies is

$$My_1 + Ny_2 = 0 (5.1.8)$$

The charge quantisation rule means that we can write

$$\frac{y_1}{2} = -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{m_M}{M} + c_1 \tag{5.1.9}$$

$$\frac{y_2}{2} = -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{m_N}{N} + c_2 \tag{5.1.10}$$

where c_1 and c_2 are integers. We then find that the condition for no anomalies becomes

$$2Nc_2 = N + [2(m_M + m_N) + (1 - 2c_1)M]$$
(5.1.11)

Since N and M are both odd there will always be a solution since we can choose m_M and m_N so that $(m_M + m_N) = M$ and c_1 so that $(3 - 2c_1)$ is an odd multiple of N. In general there will also be other solutions.

In particular, for the gauge group $G_5 \equiv SMG_{235}$ we can have a fourth generation of quarks without any extra leptons by choosing M = 3, N = 5, $m_3 = 1$ and $c_1 = 1$ above. Then

$$10c_2 = 5 + [2(1+m_5) - 3] \tag{5.1.12}$$

or equivalently

$$5c_2 = 2 + m_5 \tag{5.1.13}$$

So we have a solution with $c_2 = 1$ and $m_5 = 3$.

The representations of the left-handed fermions which couple to the SU(5) subgroup are shown in table 5.1. This is a generalisation of the quarks in the SM, coupling to SU(5) rather than SU(3).

In fact we have a solution with a fourth generation of quarks for the general case, where N is any odd integer greater than 3 by choosing $c_2 = 1$ and $m_N = \frac{1}{2}(N+1)$. This means that if a fourth generation of quarks without leptons

Table 5.1: Left-handed fermions coupling to SU(5) in the mass grouping $\{-\frac{1}{5}, (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{5})\}$. The electric charges are in units of $\frac{1}{5}$ due to the charge quantisation rule. These SU(5)-"quarks" form an anomaly-free set of fermions together with a fourth generation of SM quarks.

Representation under	Туре	U(1) Representation	Electric Charge
$SU(2)\otimes SU(3)\otimes SU(5)$		<u>y</u> 2	Q
2, 1, 5	$\left(\begin{array}{c}5u\\5d\end{array}\right)_{L}$	$-\frac{1}{10}$	$ \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{2}{5} \\ -\frac{3}{5} \end{array}\right) $
$1,1,\overline{5}$	$\overline{5u}_L$	$-\frac{4}{10}$	$-\frac{2}{5}$
$1, 1, \overline{5}$	$\overline{5d}_L$	$\frac{6}{10}$	$\frac{3}{5}$

Table 5.2: Fermions coupling to SU(N) which would form an anomaly-free set of fermions together with a fourth generation of quarks. These fermions form the mass-grouping $\{-\frac{1}{N}, (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{N})\}$.

Representation under	Туре	U(1) Representation	Electric Charge
$SU(2)\otimes SU(3)\otimes SU(N)$		<u>y</u> 2	Q
2, 1, N	$\left(\begin{array}{c} Nu\\ Nd \end{array}\right)_{L}$	$-\frac{1}{2N}$	$\left(\begin{array}{c}\frac{N-1}{2N}\\\\-\frac{N+1}{2N}\end{array}\right)$
$1,1,\overline{\mathrm{N}}$	\overline{Nu}_L	$-\frac{N-1}{2N}$	$-\frac{N-1}{2N}$
$1,1,\overline{\mathrm{N}}$	\overline{Nd}_L	$\frac{N+1}{2N}$	$\frac{N+1}{2N}$

was detected, there would be no immediate way of deducing the value of N. Table 5.2 shows the properties of the left-handed fermions which couple to the SU(N) subgroup. Note that this is a generalisation of the SM quarks, coupling to SU(N) with the specific choice of $m_N = \frac{1}{2}(N+1)$. If we set N = 3 we would in fact get a generation of quarks with the opposite chirality to those in the SM. This is to be expected since we are using these fermions to cancel the anomaly contribution of a 4th generation of SM quarks (with the usual chirality).

This solution, with a fourth generation of quarks and the fermions of table 5.1, for the gauge group SMG_{235} is analogous to one SM quark-lepton generation in the gauge group SMG, in the sense that it is the smallest anomaly-free set of mass protected fermions which couple non-trivially to all the gauge fields. The SM quark-lepton generation has been shown to be the smallest such set of fermions for the SMG in section 2.5. Note that although a generation of SM leptons and the fermions conjugate to those in table 5.1 is a smaller anomaly-free set of fermions in the gauge group SMG_{235} , none of these fermions couples to the SU(3) subgroup. However, as in section 2.5, we do not feel that requiring some fermions to couple to all parts of the gauge group is necessary. So this is not a valid reason for choosing this solution in comparison to the one with leptons and so the choice is really made on a phenomenological basis.

As stated in section 3.1.2, we take the limits for the masses of a fourth generation of quarks to be $M_{b'} > 130$ GeV, $M_{t'} > 130$ GeV and for the top quark mass to be $M_t \sim 170$ GeV. We can now use the RGEs, first to show that these additional fermions do not cause any inconsistencies such as gauge coupling constants becoming infinite below the Planck scale, and then to estimate upper limits on the values of the Yukawa couplings to the SM Higgs field of these fermions. This will lead to upper limits on the masses indicating that the t' and b' quarks would be almost within reach of present experiments.

5.2 No Landau Poles

As in chapter 4 we can investigate how the gauge coupling constants vary with energy up to the Planck scale. Here we set the thresholds for all the unknown fermions (4th generation quarks and fermions coupling to SU(5)), as well as for the top quark and Higgs boson, to M_Z . The absence of Landau poles in this case will guarantee their absence if some of the thresholds are set higher than M_Z . From experimental limits we would expect that all these thresholds should be greater than M_Z .

We use eqs. (4.2.3)-(4.2.5) and (4.2.11) with $Y^2 = \frac{872}{15}$ to run the gauge coupling constants up to the Planck scale as shown in fig. 5.1. Now we see that with a fourth generation of quarks and the fermions in table 5.1, with far fewer fermions than the model in section 4.2.2 where all the new fermions coupled to SU(5), there are no problems with Landau poles below the Planck scale. So our SMG_{235} model with new SM fermions appears to be consistent.



Figure 5.1: α^{-1} from M_Z to the Planck scale for each component group in the SMG_{235} model with a fourth generation of quarks and the fermions of table 5.1 which couple to SU(5). The initial value of $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2$ was chosen so that the SU(5) group would confine above the electroweak scale. There are obviously no Landau poles between m_Z and the Planck scale so this model is self-consistent.

5.3 Upper Limits for Yukawa Couplings and Higgs Mass

Now we can choose initial values for the Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale and use the RGEs to see how they evolve as they are run down to the electro-weak scale. Assuming no mixing for the quarks and neglecting the masses of all SM fermions except the top quark (a good approximation), the RGEs are, to one loop order in perturbation theory as described in section 1.2.2:

$$\frac{dy_t}{dt} = y_t \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} y_t^2 + Y_2(S) - G_{3u} \right)$$
(5.3.14)

$$\frac{dy_{t'}}{dt} = y_{t'} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} (y_{t'}^2 - y_{b'}^2) + Y_2(S) - G_{3u} \right)$$
(5.3.15)

$$\frac{dy_{b'}}{dt} = y_{b'} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} (y_{b'}^2 - y_{t'}^2) + Y_2(S) - G_{3d} \right)$$
(5.3.16)

$$\frac{dy_{5u}}{dt} = y_{5u} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} (y_{5u}^2 - y_{5d}^2) + Y_2(S) - G_{5u} \right)$$
(5.3.17)

$$\frac{dy_{5d}}{dt} = y_{5d} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} (y_{5d}^2 - y_{5u}^2) + Y_2(S) - G_{5d} \right)$$
(5.3.18)

where the SU(5) fermions have been labelled 5u and 5d as generalisations of the naming of SU(3) quarks, as shown in table 5.1. The other variables are defined as

$$Y_2(S) = 5y_{5u}^2 + 5y_{5d}^2 + 3y_{t'}^2 + 3y_{b'}^2 + 3y_t^2$$
(5.3.19)

$$G_{3u} = \frac{17}{20}g_1^2 + \frac{9}{4}g_2^2 + 8g_3^2$$
 (5.3.20)

$$G_{3d} = \frac{1}{4}g_1^2 + \frac{9}{4}g_2^2 + 8g_3^2$$
(5.3.21)

$$G_{5u} = \frac{153}{500}g_1^2 + \frac{9}{4}g_2^2 + \frac{72}{5}g_5^2$$
(5.3.22)

$$G_{5d} = \frac{333}{500}g_1^2 + \frac{9}{4}g_2^2 + \frac{72}{5}g_5^2$$
(5.3.23)

Here $Y_2(S)$ is really $Tr(Y^{\dagger}Y)$ where Y is the Yukawa matrix for all the fermions. We have used the above approximation since the Yukawa couplings of the other fermions (SM fermions other than the top quark) are much less than the Yukawa couplings of the new fermions. We can also examine the quasi-fixed point limit of the Higgs self-coupling, $\lambda(\mu)$, using eq. (1.2.46) with the above definition of $Y_2(S)$ and,

$$H(S) = 5y_{5u}^4 + 5y_{5d}^4 + 3y_{t'}^4 + 3y_{b'}^4 + 3y_t^4$$
(5.3.24)

We can choose values for the Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale and then use the RGEs to see what values the Yukawa couplings will have at any other scale. We have chosen the low energy scale to be M_Z . We observe quasi-fixed points similar to the case for the top quark in the SM [32] and these will provide upper limits on the fermion masses. However, the resulting Yukawa coupling for any fermion at M_Z depends on the Yukawa couplings of the other fermions. But there is an approximate infrared fixed point limit on $Y_2(S)$ and so one Yukawa coupling can be increased at the expense of the others. This limit on $Y_2(S)$ is quite precise if there is only one strong interaction at low energies, such as QCD in the SM¹. We observe numerically that $Y_2(S) \approx 7.7 \pm 0.3$, provided the Yukawa couplings of the three heavy quarks are greater than 1 at the Planck scale and that the Yukawa couplings of the fermions coupling to the SU(5) gauge group are less than the Yukawa couplings of the heavy quarks at the Planck scale. See, for example, figure 5.6.

First we shall discuss the quasi-fixed points in detail for this model. We shall examine the limits on the Yukawa couplings when we consider only the quarks and when we consider only the SU(5)-"quarks" as well as the more general case when all the new fermions have significant Yukawa couplings.

Then we shall go on to discuss upper limits on the Yukawa couplings from quasi-fixed point values when all fermions get a mass consistent with experimental limits. This will provide strong constraints on the allowed masses of these new fermions.

¹Detailed results for a general number of heavy SM generations are derived in [33].

5.3.1 Examples Of Quasi-Fixed Points

In this section we shall give various examples of quasi-fixed points in this particular model. The simplest examples are to set either, all SM quark Yukawa couplings to zero at the Planck scale, or all SU(5)-"quark" Yukawa couplings to zero at the Planck scale. Since we wish our models to be consistent with precision electroweak data we will set the Yukawa couplings of fermions in the same SU(2) doublet to the same value at the Planck scale. This will ensure that to a good approximation $T_{new} = U_{new} = 0$, as required by experimental results described in section 3.3.

Only the Top Quark: The SM Case

First we shall examine the familiar case of fixed points in the SM. The top quark is the only fermion with a significant Yukawa coupling and all the fermion mixing angles are small so we are justified in neglecting the effects due to the other fermions. So we can examine the Yukawa coupling of the top quark, y_t , and the Higgs boson self-coupling, λ , alone. Since there are only 2 parameters we are interested in, the simplest way to examine the fixed point behaviour is to plot $y_t v \lambda$ as the couplings are run from chosen initial values at the Planck scale down to the electroweak scale. Figure 5.2 shows how several different initial values of y_t and λ all converge to the same value at the electroweak scale. We have used 2-loop RGEs for this case since they are well known for the SM (see [30] for example). This should make this section consistent with previous calculations although for the other sections we shall simply use the 1-loop RGEs for convenience and also because the effect of varying the unknown value of the SU(5) gauge coupling constant will cause a much greater difference than that between 1-loop and 2-loop calculations.

We can clearly see that the final values of y_t and λ at the electroweak scale are not sensitive to the values at the Planck scale provided $y_t(M_{Planck}) > 1$. For $y_t(M_{Planck}) = 1$ we can see that there is a small difference at the electroweak



Figure 5.2: Fixed point of y_t and λ in the SM. The lines show the running of different initial values at the Planck scale down to the fixed point values at the electroweak scale.

scale. For $y_t(M_{Planck}) < 1$ the values at the electroweak scale are clearly sensitive to the initial values at the Planck scale. This is an important point. If the Yukawa coupling is not large enough at the Planck scale then the fixed point will not be reached at the electroweak scale. In this example the cases with $y_t(M_{Planck}) \leq 1$ would eventually reach a fixed point below the electroweak scale if we continued to run the equations. However, the exact value of y_t and λ at the fixed point depends on the scale of the fixed point. This is because of the dependence of the RGEs for y_t and λ on the gauge coupling constants. Therefore, if a set of initial conditions does not converge on the fixed point at the electroweak scale, it will reach a different fixed point at a lower scale. But in this case that will mean that the resultant pole masses of the top quark and Higgs boson will be different since they depend on the values of y_t and λ at the electroweak scale. So here we can say that fixed points below the electroweak scale have no physical relevance. This will also be true for our model with a generation of SU(5)-"quarks" since they can attain fixed point pole masses of the same order as the electroweak scale.

We can see that the lines with $y_t(M_{Planck}) > 1$ converge before reaching the fixed point at the electroweak scale. This is because the fixed point values of y_t and λ depend on the gauge coupling constants, g_i . These in turn depend on the scale since they are running coupling constants. So what we are observing is the dependence of the fixed point on the scale. The change in direction of the lines just before the fixed point at the electroweak scale is due to the rapid increase in g_3 near the electroweak scale which increases the top quark Yukawa coupling. We will see clearer examples of this behaviour when analysing the SU(5)-"quark" Yukawa couplings since we choose $g_5(M_Z) > g_3(M_Z)$.

The fixed point values of y_t and λ can be read off figure 5.2. We get,

$$y_t(M_Z) \approx 1.30 \tag{5.3.25}$$

$$\lambda(M_Z) \approx 0.96 \tag{5.3.26}$$

When we use the SM VEV,

$$\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle = v = 246.22 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.27)

the corresponding pole masses are, using eqs. (1.3.65) and (1.2.41),

$$M_t \approx 232 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.28)

$$M_H \approx 236 \text{ GeV} \tag{5.3.29}$$

For comparison with the next sections, when we use the value of $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle$ reduced by the technicolour-like contribution to the VEV from the condensates of SU(5)-"quarks", $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle = 234$ GeV, we get,

$$M_t \approx 221 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.30)

$$M_H \approx 225 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.31)

Only the Top and 4th Generation Quarks

Now we shall include the 4th generation quarks and examine the quasi-fixed point behaviour for various values of Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale. The choice of Yukawa couplings is simplified by our requirement that the masses of the fourth generation quarks should be equal so that the model can be consistent with the precision electroweak data; i.e. $T_{new} \approx 0$ and $U_{new} \approx 0$. For simplicity we choose $y_{t'}(M_{Planck}) = y_{b'}(M_{Planck})$. This will produce a splitting of the pole masses of about 3%. This will give a negligible contribution to the T and U parameters. We will now show some graphs of the running Yukawa couplings to illustrate the quasi-fixed point behaviour and to show the resultant masses without the SU(5)-"quarks".

First we show the fourth generation quarks alone without the top quark in figure 5.3. This will give an estimate of the maximum possible mass of the fourth generation quarks. The inclusion of the top quark will reduce this estimate. From



Figure 5.3: Fixed point of $y_{t'}$ and $y_{b'}$ without the top quark or any SU(5)-"quarks".

this graph we can calculate the pole masses of the fourth generation quarks. They are,

$$M_{t'} = 200 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.32)

$$M_{b'} = 196 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.33)

We can certainly assume that these masses are upper limits since the effect of including more fermions is to reduce the average Yukawa coupling. This effect can be observed in the graphs where the top quark alone (figures 5.4 and 5.5) or the top quark with the SU(5)-"quarks" (figures 5.10 and 5.11) are included. We can see that the t' and b' end up with almost the same Yukawa couplings. This is because the RGEs are the same apart from a small difference due to the different coupling of the quarks to the U(1) gauge group.

Now we show the fixed point behaviour when we consider all three heavy quarks, still without the SU(5)-"quarks", in figure 5.4. It is obvious that, although they start with equal Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale $(y_t(M_{Planck}) =$ $y_{t'}(M_{Planck}) = y_{b'}(M_{Planck}) = 3.0)$, the top quark Yukawa coupling is reduced at the electroweak scale because its doublet partner, the bottom quark, has a much smaller Yukawa coupling (approximated to 0 here). This effect is obviously much larger than the small change between the t' and b' Yukawa couplings due to their different weak hypercharges. The resultant pole masses are,

$$M_t = 130 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.34)

$$M_{t'} = 177 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.35)

$$M_{b'} = 172 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.36)

Because the top tends to get a smaller Yukawa coupling than the fourth generation quarks, it is necessary to give it a much larger Yukawa coupling at the Planck scale so that it can attain a pole mass within the current experimental limits.

In figure 5.5 we can see that the three quarks will get a similar mass at the



Figure 5.4: Running Yukawa couplings for the top and fourth generation quarks. All Yukawa couplings are chosen to be 3.0 at the Planck scale.



Figure 5.5: Running Yukawa couplings for the top and fourth generation quarks. The top quark gets a pole mass of 160 GeV, near the bottom end of the experimental range. The fourth generation quarks end up with a similar mass.

electroweak scale if we choose,

$$y_t(M_{Planck}) = 3.0$$
 (5.3.37)

$$y_{t'}(M_{Planck}) = 1.9$$
 (5.3.38)

$$y_{b'}(M_{Planck}) = 1.9$$
 (5.3.39)

These values lead to the following pole masses:

$$M_t = 160 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.40)

$$M_{t'} = 159 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.41)

$$M_{b'} = 155 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.42)

The initial values of the Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale were chosen so that the top quark would just lie within the experimental range for its measured pole mass. Since the fourth generation quarks then got roughly the same mass, we can assume that they cannot be heavier than the top quark. This is certainly the case when we consider that the inclusion of the SU(5)-"quarks" will further reduce the average Yukawa coupling at the electroweak scale.

In figure 5.6 we can see the value of $Y_2(S)$ for the three cases considered in this section. We see that although the different cases produced different quark masses, the value of $Y_2(S)$ was practically the same in all three cases. This demonstrates that for a fixed number of fermions we can increase the mass of some at the expense of others since the total sum of Yukawa couplings squared must remain approximately the same.

Only SU(5)-"Quarks"

We shall now examine the SU(5) quasi-fixed point without any heavy SM fermions. This will show the similarity between the quasi-fixed point for the SU(5)-"quarks" and a generation of SM quarks. We can also see how the value of the quasi-fixed point depends on the strength of the SU(5) gauge coupling constant at the electroweak scale. Since there is no experimental limit on the coupling constant we



Figure 5.6: Fixed point value of $Y_2(S)$ for figures 5.3, 5.4 and 5.5.

are free to choose any value we wish. However, since no SU(5)-"quarks" have been observed we must ensure that either they have masses large enough to avoid detection or that the SU(5) confinement scale is so high that the lightest SU(5) bound states would have masses beyond the limits of current accelerators. Again we will choose the fermions within the SU(2) doublet to be almost degenerate so that $T_{new} \approx 0$ and $U_{new} \approx 0$. To do this simply we choose $y_{5u}(M_{Planck}) = y_{5d}(M_{Planck})$ as we did for the fourth generation quarks in the last section.

In figure 5.7 we start with the Yukawa couplings equal to 3.0 at the Planck scale and choose $\alpha^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0$. We can see that between the Planck scale and the electroweak scale the Yukawa couplings are about 0.8 but at the electroweak scale they are about 1.5. This is because the value of the quasi-fixed point Yukawa couplings depends on the strength of the gauge coupling constants. The SU(5)gauge coupling constant is relatively small at energies considerably higher than the electroweak scale and so the fixed point values at these scale are not very large. It is only when the SU(5) gauge coupling dramatically increases in strength near its confinement scale (of the same order of magnitude as the electroweak scale) that the quasi-fixed point values increase 2 . Since in this example we have chosen $\alpha_5(M_Z) \gg \alpha_3(M_Z)$ the SU(5)-"quarks" attain larger Yukawa couplings than the quarks in the corresponding example with only a fourth generation of SM quarks (More precisely, this difference is due to the fact that $\frac{72}{5}g_5^2(M_Z) > 8g_3^2(M_Z)$ which is the main difference between the RGEs for the SU(5)-"quarks" and the fourth generation of SM quarks in eqs. (5.3.15)-(5.3.23)). In this example the pole masses of the SU(5)-"quarks" are, using eq. (1.3.66),

$$M_{5u} = 233 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.43)

²The U(1) and SU(2) gauge coupling constants are much smaller than the SU(5) gauge coupling constant and so do not have much effect. The SU(3) gauge coupling constant has no effect since the SU(5)-"quarks" do not couple to the SU(3) group, though in the general case it would affect the SU(5)-"quark" Yukawa couplings indirectly through its effect on the quark Yukawa couplings

$$M_{5d} = 236 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.44)

In figure 5.8 we can see the difference caused by the choice of a weaker SU(5) interaction. With $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 10.0$ we have $\alpha_5(M_Z) \approx \alpha_3(M_Z)$. We observe the same behaviour for the Yukawa couplings above the electroweak scale as in figure 5.7 but now the weaker SU(5) coupling at the electroweak scale means that there is not such a sudden increase in the quasi-fixed point values. This leads to the following SU(5)-"quark" pole masses,

$$M_{5u} = 160 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.45)

$$M_{5d} = 162 \text{ GeV} \tag{5.3.46}$$

Figure 5.9 shows the value of $Y_2(S)$ for the SU(5)-"quark" fixed points with the different choices of $\alpha_5(M_Z)$. We can see that the value of $Y_2(S)$ is almost the same in both cases until close to the electroweak scale where it increases greatly for the case where $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0$ and only increases a little for the case where $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 10.0$. This is simply due to the fact that $\alpha_5 \approx 0$ in both cases at scales above the electroweak scale but the difference between the two cases is much more significant at lower scales. Therefore we cannot give accurate predictions of the masses of the SU(5)-"quarks" because the choice of $\alpha_5(M_Z)$ is arbitrary and the masses are so sensitive to this value.

All New Fermions and Top Quark with Equal Yukawa Couplings

We will now set the Yukawa couplings of all new fermions and the top quark to be equal and examine their relative values at the electroweak scale. We choose the value for the SU(5) fine structure constant to be

$$\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0 \tag{5.3.47}$$

In figure 5.10 we can see that when we choose all the Yukawa couplings of the SU(5)-"quarks", fourth generation quarks and the top quark to be 2.0 at



Figure 5.7: Fixed point value of the Yukawa couplings of the SU(5)-"quarks" when they are set to 3.0 at the Planck scale. The SU(5) fine structure constant is chosen to be $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0$.



Figure 5.8: Fixed point value of the Yukawa couplings of the SU(5)-"quarks" when they are set to 3.0 at the Planck scale. The SU(5) fine structure constant is chosen to be $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 10.0$.



Figure 5.9: Fixed point values of $Y_2(S)$ for the SU(5)-"quarks" with different values of $\alpha_5(M_Z)$ corresponding to figures 5.7 and 5.8.


Figure 5.10: Quasi-fixed Yukawa couplings at the electroweak scale when all Yukawa couplings are chosen to be 2.0 at the Planck scale and $\alpha_5^{-1}(M_Z) = 2.0$.

the Planck scale, the SU(5)-"quarks" get much larger masses at the electroweak scale due to the fact that $g_5(M_Z) > g_3(M_Z)$. This is to be expected from the comparison figures 5.4 and 5.7 where the SU(5)-"quarks" got a much larger mass than the SM quarks. The actual pole masses in this case are,

$$M_{5u} = 184 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.48)

$$M_{5d} = 187 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.49)

$$M_{t'} = 116 \text{ GeV}$$
(5.3.50)

$$M_{b'} = 112 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.51)

$$M_t = 98 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.52)

Obviously the top quark gets a mass much lower than its experimental limit and so we must choose the Yukawa coupling of the top quark to be larger than the Yukawa couplings of the SU(5)-"quarks" at the Planck scale. The top quark also ends up with a Yukawa coupling less that those of the fourth generation quarks as in figure 5.4. In some sense the small mass of the top quark makes the model a bit unnatural, especially when we consider the fact that we end up choosing the Yukawa coupling of the top quark to be much larger than the Yukawa couplings of all the other fermions to fit in with experimental limits.

5.3.2 Limits on Masses Consistent with Experimental Limits

In this section we shall try to choose Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale for all the heavy fermions in order to get an experimentally acceptable model. We will use the examples in section 5.3.1 to guide us. We also comment on the consistency of the model with precision electroweak data.

The values of the Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale in fig. 5.11 have been chosen so that the top quark pole mass is consistent with current experimental limits ($M_t \approx 170$ GeV) and the fourth generation quark pole masses are above the current experimental lower limit of 130 GeV. Also $M_{b'} \sim M_{t'}$ and $M_{5u} \sim M_{5d}$ have been chosen so that there is only a small contribution to the ρ parameter described in section 3.3.

We have discussed the radiative corrections in section 3.3 and this model appears to be consistent with current experimental data since we have arranged T_{new} and U_{new} to be approximately zero. The only non-zero contribution to the three parameters used to describe the precision electroweak data is the contribution to the S parameter from the 8 new SU(2) doublets. This causes the S parameter to deviate from the experimental mean value by slightly less than 2 standard deviations. However, as noted in section 3.3, it is difficult to calculate the theoretical contributions and the perturbative estimates used may not be very accurate. Nevertheless we would consider this model to be consistent with the current experimental precision electroweak data.

Table 5.3 gives the values of the Yukawa couplings at M_Z and the corresponding pole masses using eq. (1.3.65) for the quarks and eq. (1.3.66) for the SU(5)-"quarks". These masses should be considered upper limits on the masses of the fermions only for this particular choice of Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale. For other choices of Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale we could, for example, increase the mass of the fourth generation of quarks but this would have to be compensated for by a reduction in the mass of some of the other fermions.

These values for the masses are consistent with current experimental limits but are not so high that the new fermions could remain undetected for long. In fact the quark masses may even be within the limits of current accelerators. It is not clear whether the fermions coupling to SU(5) could be observed, since they would obviously be confined by the SU(5) gauge interaction which we take to confine above the electroweak scale. So even if they have masses of about 100 GeV, they would be much more difficult to detect than quarks with greater masses. For this reason we consider the clearest evidence for this model would come from the detection of a fourth generation quark. The masses of some of the new fermions

Table 5.3: Infrared fixed point Yukawa couplings and corresponding running masses (for $F_{\pi} = 75$ GeV) for a particular choice of Yukawa couplings at the Planck scale.

Fermion	Yukawa Coupling	Pole Mass (GeV)		
y_t	1.00	175		
$y_{t'}$	0.77	135		
y _{b'}	0.75	131		
y _{5u}	0.38	94		
¥5d	0.40	97		

could be increased, but not by much, since this would mean a reduction in the mass of other fermions. This means that this model is consistent and relatively easy to test.

For completeness we present the fixed point value of λ which determines the mass of the Higgs boson. Figure 5.12 shows how the value of λ is large near the Planck scale when we choose $\lambda(M_{Planck}) = 3.0$ but decreases at lower energies. The final value of $\lambda(M_Z)$ is only about 0.5. This is a fixed point value since we would obtain this low energy value of λ for a wide range of initial choices of λ at the Planck scale. This leads to a Higgs running mass of,

$$M_H \approx 172 \text{ GeV}$$
 (5.3.53)

We would consider this to be a maximum limit on the Higgs mass if this model is to be perturbatively valid up to the Planck scale. Notice that the effect of the extra fermions is to reduce the limit on the Higgs mass relative to its SM limit, eq.(5.3.29). Part of this effect is due to the reduction of the Higgs VEV but the limit of eq. (5.3.53) is still much less than the value given by eq.(5.3.31). Since we are at the fixed point for the fermion masses, we can assume that the Higgs must have a mass very close to the mass given in eq. (5.3.53). This is because a lower mass would mean that when running λ from the electroweak scale up to the Planck scale it would become negative and so the vacuum would be unstable. If we are exactly at the fixed point for the Yukawa couplings the Higgs must get this mass. But if the Yukawa couplings are slightly lower then there will be an upper bound on $\lambda(M_Z)$ above which λ will become infinite when run up to the Planck scale and a lower bound below which it will become negative when run up to the Planck scale.

5.4 Conclusions

We have shown that we can have a self-1 consistent model with a fourth generation of quarks and a generation of SU(N)-"quarks" where $N \ge 5$ is odd. By examining precision electroweak data we have limited the models to the one with N = 5. We can then produce a model which also appears to be consistent with experiment. However, there are several difficulties with this model.

We can produce masses of new fermions so that they are heavier than current experimental limits but it is not easy to do so. We must carefully choose the Yukawa couplings of all the heavy fermions at the Planck scale. One of the main problems is that it is not easy to produce a large enough top mass. To do this we must choose the Yukawa coupling of the top quark at the Planck scale to be greater than all the other Yukawa couplings. The variables are constrained so much by experiment that it could reasonably be argued that there isn't much room left for the model. However, even with the choice of parameters made in the last section of this chapter, the model would not be very difficult to test experimentally and so we would claim that it does at least have the advantage of being easily testable. Another example of the limited range of parameters in our model is the fact that we have required the masses of the t' and b' as well as the masses of the SU(5)-"quarks" to be similar. This is required so that our model doesn't contribute to the T and U parameters and also so that all these fermions are more massive than the experimental limits. In some ways it could be argued that it is natural for fermions in the same SU(2) doublet to have similar masses but this is not what is observed in the SM.

Perhaps the weakest point in our argument that this model could be consistent with experiment is that the S parameter differs from its measured value by 2 standard deviations. On its own this wouldn't be too bad but if we consider that most non-perturbative estimates of contributions to the S parameter are greater than the perturbative estimates then we can conclude that the S parameter predicted by our model probably differs by more than 2 standard deviations from the measured value.

So overall we could say that our model is consistent with experiment but only just. The only reason we would not consider investigating the agreement with precision electroweak data in more detail is that the masses for the fourth generation of quarks are so close to the current experimental limits that direct evidence for or against the model should soon be available.



Figure 5.11: An example of running Yukawa couplings for all fermions with a mass the same order of magnitude as the electroweak scale. The values were chosen at the Planck scale and run down to M_Z so that all the fermions would have a mass allowed by current experimental limits.



Figure 5.12: Fixed point value of λ , the Higgs quartic coupling. This graph, along with the estimated value of $\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle = 234$ GeV, leads to the approximate upper bound on the Higgs mass of 172 GeV.

Chapter 6

Fermion Masses from Diagonal Symmetry

6.1 Introduction

This chapter is about a slightly different type of model. In the previous chapters we have been examining models with new physics close to the electroweak scale. But now we turn our attention towards a model where we do not introduce any new low mass fermions and where all new physics will occur near the Planck scale. One model examined in [17] has gauge group,

$$SMG_1 \otimes SMG_2 \otimes SMG_3 \otimes U(1)_f$$
 (6.1.1)

The SMG will emerge as a diagonal subgroup. In the full group the *i*th SM generation was considered to transform only under SMG_i . The $U(1)_f$ charges are not determined for the SM fermions and can be chosen freely, provided all anomalies are cancelled.

As in the other models in this thesis, we have a charge quantisation rule. For this group there are, in fact, 4 charge quantisation rules. As we have already discussed in section 2.3.2, the charge quantisation rules are chosen to maximise the χ parameter. The four rules are; a SM charge quantisation rule for each SMG

103

factor and a quantisation of the $U(1)_f$ charges:

$$\frac{y_i}{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_i + \frac{1}{3}t_i \equiv 0 \pmod{1}$$
(6.1.2)

$$y_f \equiv 0 \pmod{1} \tag{6.1.3}$$

To simplify the notation we will normalise all charges to be integer by defining:

$$Q_i \equiv 3y_i \tag{6.1.4}$$

$$Q_f \equiv y_f \tag{6.1.5}$$

This model was used to provide an explanation of the vast range of fermion masses in the SM without requiring such a range of fundamental Yukawa couplings. This was done by assuming that the fermion masses (apart from the top quark) were suppressed by different amounts due to the details of the symmetry breaking down to the *SMG*. This suppression is due to the fermion transformation properties under the full gauge symmetries which are assumed to be partially conserved at low energies. These symmetries are called partially conserved chiral symmetries (PCCSs). The details depend on the complete symmetry breaking mechanism but an order of magnitude estimate of the amount of suppression of each Yukawa coupling can be obtained from the ratios of each symmetry breaking scale to the fundamental scale. We assume that the fundamental scale is the Planck scale. Essentially, the Yukawa couplings of the fermions to the SM Higgs are viewed as effective couplings in a low energy effective theory. The fundamental Yukawa couplings are couplings to the heavy Higgs bosons responsible for the diagonal symmetry breaking and these couplings are assumed to be of order 1.

We can write the part of the low energy Lagrangian responsible for fermion mass generation as,

$$\mathcal{L} = \overline{U_R} M_U U_L + \overline{D_R} M_D D_L + \overline{l_R} M_l l_L + \text{h.c.}$$
(6.1.6)

where U, D and l are the three generations of up quarks, down quarks and electron-

like leptons. In other words:

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ c \\ t \end{pmatrix} \qquad D = \begin{pmatrix} d \\ s \\ b \end{pmatrix} \qquad l = \begin{pmatrix} e \\ \mu \\ \tau \end{pmatrix} \qquad (6.1.7)$$

The mass matrices are related to the Yukawa matrices by,

$$M_t = Y_t \frac{\langle \phi_{WS} \rangle}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{6.1.8}$$

where t = U, D or l.

Using the notation of [17] we define δ_i to be the ratio of the symmetry breaking scale of $SU(3)_i$ to the fundamental scale. Similarly we use ϵ_i for $SU(2)_i$. We then estimate the values of the Yukawa matrices by assuming that all elements are of order 1 unless suppressed. We make the assumption that each entry is suppressed by a factor of δ_i if it connects a triplet of $SU(3)_i$ to a singlet of $SU(3)_i$, and similarly by ϵ_i for elements which connect doublets of $SU(2)_i$ to singlets of $SU(2)_i$. We use a general metric to parameterise the suppression due to the abelian symmetries. This suppresses each element $Y_{\alpha\beta}$ by a factor, $exp(-\sqrt{(Q_{i\alpha}^L - Q_{i\beta}^R)g_{ij}(Q_{j\alpha}^L - Q_{i\beta}^R)})$, where g_{ij} is a metric and a sum over i and j which run over 1, 2, 3 and f is implicit. $Q_{i\alpha}^L (Q_{i\alpha}^R)$ is the $U(1)_i$ charge of the left- (right-) handed fermion in generation α (type U, D or l depending on which Yukawa matrix is being considered).

The Yukawa matrices are diagonalised algebraically to give an order of magnitude estimate for the masses and mixing angles of all the SM fermions. Numerical methods for diagonalising the matrices cannot be used because we are only estimating the order of magnitude of each entry in the matrices and we have no information about the relative phases of the entries which would be complex numbers.

The masses obtained from the Yukawa matrices are assumed to be the running masses at the Planck scale. We compare the order of magnitude estimates for the masses and mixing angles to the experimental masses run up to the Planck scale. However, in order to make the results more meaningful we will present the approximate values at 1 GeV except for the c and b quarks where we will present the pole masses. For simplicity, since everything is calculated only order of magnitude, we don't use the full RGEs to calculate our estimates at 1 GeV from our estimates at the Planck scale. Instead we simply multiply each fermion mass by a factor which approximates its observed ratio of running masses at 1 GeV to the Planck scale for the values of the experimental masses. The mixing angles don't vary much with scale as shown in [30] and so we assume that the estimates we obtain from the mass matrices are directly comparable to experimentally measured values. We use all SM fermions (except the top quark) and the mixing angles; V_{us} , V_{cb} and V_{ub} , in the fit. We use a computer program to find the best choice of the parameters g_{ij} , ϵ_k and δ_k (where i and j run over 1, 2, 3 and f and k runs over 1, 2 and 3) so that we minimise,

$$\chi^2 \equiv \sum_{f} [\ln(m_f^{est}) - \ln(m_f^{exp})]^2 + \sum [\ln(V_{f'}^{est}) - \ln(V_{f'}^{exp})]^2$$
(6.1.9)

where *est* refers to the estimated values from the mass matrices and *exp* refers to the experimentally measured values. Also, f labels all 8 massive SM fermions other than the top quark and f' labels us, cb and ub corresponding to the three mixing angles stated above. For the top quark, we use the value of the pole mass:

$$M_t = 174 \text{ GeV}$$
 (6.1.10)

The top mass affects the fit in two ways. Firstly, the RGEs for the Yukawa couplings of all fermions depend on the large Yukawa coupling of the top quark. But, since the same methods and a modified version of the computer program used for the analysis of [17] was used, another effect is present. This is due to the fact that the Yukawa matrices were normalised so that all the entries were given relative to the top Yukawa coupling. The top Yukawa coupling has been chosen not to be suppressed but that still means that it is of order 1, not exactly

1. Therefore, by defining it to be exactly 1, the precise value has to be absorbed into all the other entries. This will bias the fit depending on whether the top quark Yukawa coupling happens to be greater than or less than 1. Therefore, we can only really compare different models where we have chosen the same top mass. The top mass used means that the Yukawa coupling is approximately 1 at the electroweak scale and so the fit should be roughly the same as a fit where this normalisation is not used. We will give all the results for the top mass chosen to be, $M_t = 174$ GeV.

6.2 Model

One of the models considered in [17] was based on the gauge group of eq. (6.1.1). The $U(1)_f$ group had been added to the simpler group, $SMG_1 \otimes SMG_2 \otimes SMG_3$, also examined in [17], in order to produce a splitting of masses within each generation. Since this was not necessary for the first (lightest) generation, it was assumed that all fermions in the first generation did not couple to the $U(1)_f$ group, i.e. $Q_f = 0$ for all first generation fermions. It was found in [17] that the only way to cancel all anomalies was to give the second and third generation fermions values of Q_f that were proportional to their values of conventional weak hypercharge or the values shown in table 6.1. Since the values of weak hypercharge couldn't produce the correct mass structure, the latter alternative obviously had to be used.

The number of free parameters was reduced by the requirement that the top mass should not be suppressed. Since it was assumed that the top mass would come from the entry $(M_U)_{3,2}$, the following seven conditions were required:

$$\epsilon_3 = 1 \tag{6.2.11}$$

$$\delta_2 = 1 \tag{6.2.12}$$

- $\delta_3 = 1 \tag{6.2.13}$
- $g_{ij}(Q_{jt}^L Q_{jc}^R) = 0 ag{6.2.14}$

Fermion	Q_f	Q_f Fermion		
c_L	0	t_L	0	
c _R	1	t_R	-1	
s _R	-1	b_R	1	
μ_L	0	$ au_L$	0	
μ_R	-1	$ au_R$	1	

Table 6.1: Values of Q_f for the second and third generation fermions in the model of [17]. The first generation fermions have $Q_f = 0$.

The last condition allows us to eliminate 4 of the 10 parameters from the metric. We choose to eliminate g_{13} , g_{23} , g_{2f} and g_{3f} . In fact it was also found that the best fit was always for $\epsilon_2 = 1$.

However, the conditions on the parameters; ϵ_2 , ϵ_3 , δ_2 and δ_3 , mean that essentially the PCCSs were considered to be:

$$SU(3)_1 \otimes SU(2)_1 \otimes U(1)_1 \otimes U(1)_2 \otimes U(1)_3 \otimes U(1)_f$$
 (6.2.15)

rather than the full group given in eq. (6.1.1). There are two ways to look at this. Firstly, if we imagine that the group of eq. (6.1.1) is the full group in this model then it is not surprising that the symmetry breaking scales for different parts of the group are different. By chance some parts will break at higher energies than others. This means that they would not contribute to suppression of elements in the mass matrices since these symmetries would not be partially conserved. The alternative view is that the fact that the top quark mass is not suppressed and $\epsilon_2 = 1$ is due to the fact that the full group of PCCSs is not in fact the group

Table 6.2:	Values	of Q_f	for the se	cond and	third	generati	ion feri	mions in	the m	odel
with group	o given	by eq.	(6.2.15).	The first	gener	ation fe	rmions	have Q_j	f = 0	as in
the model	of [17].									

Fermion	Q_f	Fermion	Q_f	
c_L	0	t_L	0	
c_R	3	3 t_R		
s _R	-3	b_R	3	
μ_L	-4	$ au_L$	4	
μ_R	-5	$ au_R$	5	

of eq. (6.1.1) but only the subgroup given by eq. (6.2.15). If we accept the latter point of view, we can then choose different values of the $U(1)_f$ charges since there are not as many anomaly constraints for the subgroup as for the larger group. In particular, we can choose the $U(1)_f$ charges given in table 6.2.

We will now examine both models. If the full gauge group is not $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$ then we would not expect the $U(1)_f$ charges which are required to cancel the anomalies in this larger group to give a better fit than another set of charges which also cancels the anomalies in the smaller group. So, by fitting both models to the data, we would expect the best fit in both cases to be reasonably good. If it turns out that the original set of $U(1)_f$ charges gives a much better fit then we would suspect that the full gauge group was in fact $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$. Obviously if the second choice of $U(1)_f$ charges gives a better fit then we would prefer this model and conclude that the full group was not in fact $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$.

6.3 Results

In the model with $U(1)_f$ charges given in table 6.1, we obtained a good fit with the experimental measurements of the fermion masses and mixing angles. The value of χ^2 was:

$$\chi^2 = 5.2 \tag{6.3.16}$$

and the estimated masses and mixing angles are given in table 6.3. As in [17], it was found that some of the parameters were not required for the best fit. In fact we could choose; either δ_1 or ϵ_1 to be equal to 1 and either g_{12} or g_{1f} to be zero as well as $\epsilon_2 = 1$. This means that the fit to the 11 parameters was actually made using only 6 parameters.

In our new model with $U(1)_f$ charges given in table 6.2, we obtained the following fit with the larger value of χ^2 :

$$\chi^2 = 6.9 \tag{6.3.17}$$

and the estimated masses and mixing angles are given in table 6.3.

In the original model, the important elements in the mass matrices were:

$$M_{U} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{u} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_{t} \\ 0 & m_{c} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.3.18)
$$M_{D} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{d} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_{s} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_{b} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.3.19)

Table 6.3:	Masses	and	mixing	angles	fitted	using	the	$U(1)_f$	charges	given	in
table 6.1.											

Quantity	FittedValue	ExperimentalValue		
$m_e(1 \text{ GeV})$	1.0 MeV	$0.5~{ m MeV}$		
$m_\mu(1~{ m GeV})$	156 MeV	105 MeV		
$m_{ au}(1~{ m GeV})$	1.51 GeV	1.78 GeV		
$m_d(1~{ m GeV})$	4.9 MeV	9.2 MeV		
$m_u(1 \text{ GeV})$	4.9 MeV	$5.2~{ m MeV}$		
$m_s(1 \text{ GeV})$	758 MeV	194 MeV		
M_c	0.76 GeV	1.5 GeV		
M_b	5.7 GeV	4.9 GeV		
V_{us}	0.21	0.22		
V_{cb}	0.013	0.042		
V_{ub}	0.0027	0.0027		

Table 6.4: Masses and mixing angles fitted using the $U(1)_f$ charges given in table 6.2.

Quantity	FittedValue	ExperimentalValue		
$m_e(1 { m GeV})$	0.82 MeV	0.50 MeV		
$m_\mu(1~{ m GeV})$	580 MeV	105 MeV		
$m_{ au}(1~{ m GeV})$	4.6 GeV	1.78 GeV		
$m_d(1~{ m GeV})$	4.0 MeV	9.2 MeV		
$m_u(1~{ m GeV})$	4.0 MeV	5.2 MeV		
$m_s(1~{ m GeV})$	1060 MeV	194 MeV		
M_c	$1.3~{ m GeV}$	1.5 GeV		
M_b	3.4 GeV	4.9 GeV		
V_{us}	0.22	0.22		
V_{cb}	0.012	0.042		
V_{ub}	0.0028	0.0027		

$$M_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{e} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_{\mu} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_{\tau} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.3.20)

In this model the matrices has the same form except that the element in M_l associated with m_{μ} was generally larger than the one associated with m_{τ} . Therefore, we assumed the lepton matrix to take the form:

$$M_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{e} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_{\tau} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_{\mu} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.3.21)

The elements labelled 0 are not exactly zero but they are not significant for producing order of magnitude masses. The structure of these matrices leads to the following order of magnitude predictions for the masses (relative to the top mass) and mixing angles in terms of the free parameters used in the fit: for the original model:

$$m_u \approx \epsilon_1 e^{-\sqrt{9g_{11}}} \tag{6.3.22}$$

$$m_c \approx e^{-\sqrt{45g_{22} + \frac{45}{4}g_{33} - \frac{9}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.23)

$$m_t = 1$$
 (6.3.24)

$$m_d \approx m_u$$
 (6.3.25)

$$m_s \approx e^{-\sqrt{-3g_{22}+\frac{3}{4}g_{33}+\frac{9}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.26)

$$m_b \approx e^{-\sqrt{16g_{22}+8g_{33}}}$$
 (6.3.27)

$$m_e \approx m_u$$
 (6.3.28)

 $m_{\mu} \approx m_s \tag{6.3.29}$

$$m_{\tau} \approx m_b$$
 (6.3.30)

112

$$V_{us} \approx \frac{\epsilon_1 \delta_1}{m_c} e^{-\sqrt{g_{11} + 64g_{22} + 12g_{33} - 3g_{ff} - 32g_{12} - 6g_{1f}}}$$
(6.3.31)

$$V_{cb} \approx \frac{1}{m_b} e^{-\sqrt{45g_{22} + \frac{9}{4}g_{33} - \frac{5}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
(6.3.32)

$$V_{ub} \approx V_{us} V_{cb} \tag{6.3.33}$$

and for the new model:

$$m_u \approx \epsilon_1 e^{-\sqrt{9g_{11}}} \tag{6.3.34}$$

$$m_c \approx e^{-\sqrt{45g_{22} + \frac{45}{4}g_{33} - \frac{81}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.35)

$$m_t = 1$$
 (6.3.36)

$$m_d \approx m_u$$
 (6.3.37)

$$m_s \approx e^{-\sqrt{-3g_{22}+\frac{3}{4}g_{33}+\frac{9}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.38)

$$m_b \approx e^{-\sqrt{48g_{22}+6g_{33}-18g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.39)

$$m_e \approx m_u$$
 (6.3.40)

$$m_{\mu} \approx e^{-\sqrt{16g_{22}+8g_{33}-8g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.41)

$$m_{\tau} \approx e^{-\sqrt{5g_{22} + \frac{1}{4}g_{33} - \frac{5}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
 (6.3.42)

$$V_{us} \approx \frac{\epsilon_1 \delta_1}{m_c} e^{-\sqrt{g_{11} + 64g_{22} + 12g_{33} - 27g_{ff} - 32g_{12} - 18g_{1f}}}$$
(6.3.43)

$$V_{cb} \approx \frac{1}{m_b} e^{-\sqrt{45g_{22} + \frac{9}{4}g_{33} - \frac{45}{4}g_{ff}}}$$
(6.3.44)

$$V_{ub} \approx V_{us} V_{cb} \tag{6.3.45}$$

These estimates give some explanation why this model does not provide such a good fit to the experimental data. In comparison to the original model, we do not immediately get the good Planck scale prediction:

$$m_b \approx m_{ au}$$
 (6.3.46)

However, we find that we do, as in the original model, automatically get the fairly good relation between the mixing angles:

$$V_{ub} \approx V_{us} V_{cb} \tag{6.3.47}$$

and the reasonable relation at the Planck scale that:

$$m_u \approx m_d \approx m_e \tag{6.3.48}$$

Overall, the fit is reasonably good but there are some problems. As in the original model, we find that the mass of the s quark is too large; even larger in this model. Also we now find that the μ and τ leptons get a mass larger than expected. The fit to the mixing angles is good apart from V_{cb} which is a bit small.

However, another problem with this model is that it requires one more free parameter than the original model. In the original model we could remove the parameters, ϵ_1 , ϵ_2 and g_{1f} for example. Here we have already removed ϵ_2 by the definition of the gauge group. We can also set $\epsilon_1 = 1$ but we require all the remaining parameters for the fit. This is because we don't automatically have the relations between the masses which were present in the first model algebraically:

$$m_{\mu} \approx m_s \tag{6.3.49}$$

$$m_{\tau} \approx m_b \tag{6.3.50}$$

If we really want to reduce the number of parameters, it is possible to set $g_{12} = 0$ and get a slightly worse fit but then the original model is even more obviously better. So this model really requires 7 parameters to fit the data and even so it doesn't fit as well as the original model with only 6 parameters.

6.4 Conclusions

We have shown that the masses and mixing angles of the SM fermions can be fitted using the idea of the SMG being the diagonal subgroup of a larger group. The first model had already been analysed and was based on the largest group, $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$. The second model had not been analysed before and was based on the smaller group, with PCCSs, $SU(3)_1 \otimes SU(2)_1 \otimes U(1)_1 \otimes U(1)_2 \otimes U(1)_3 \otimes U(1)_f$. It was obvious that the first model gave a better fit than the second model. Both in terms of χ^2 being lower and the number of free parameters being fewer, the original model is better. However, the fit was not so much better that we could conclude that the full group must be $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$. The particular model examined (defined by the particular choice of $U(1)_f$ charges to cancel the anomalies in the particular subgroup of $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$) was not as good but there are other possible choices of subgroup and (more relevant) more choices of $U(1)_f$ charges to cancel the anomalies. Without studying these to see how they compare it isn't really possible to draw any strong conclusions. But we can perhaps conclude that this does at least point towards the full group, $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$, being correct.

Chapter 7

Summary and Conclusions

We have discussed extensions of the SM having a similar gauge group structure to the SM itself. In particular we have been guided by the requirement of an anomaly-free theory, with additional mass protected fermions satisfying a generalised charge quantisation rule. We were thereby led to extend the SM cross product group, $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$, by adding extra SU(N) direct factors, with the 'N's greater than 3 and mutually prime. A generalised charge quantisation rule, involving each direct factor was then obtained by dividing out an appropriate discrete group. Extending the SM in this fairly obvious way produces the groups SMG_{23N} , SMG_{23MN} etc. Another feature we take over from the SM is the principle of using only small (fundamental or singlet) fermion non-abelian representations. For the abelian representations we take the condition that weak hypercharges should be chosen to be close to zero. More precisely, we minimise the sum of weak hypercharges squared over all the fermions.

The extra SU(N) groups introduced confine and form fermion condensates having the same quantum numbers as the SM Higgs doublet. It follows that the extra SU(N) groups act as partial technicolour groups and must confine near the electroweak scale. However, the SM Higgs field is still responsible for all the fermion masses, albeit with a somewhat reduced VEV. We have studied in detail the conditions for anomaly cancellation in our minimal extension of the SM gauge group, SMG_{235} . It is not possible to construct an anomaly-free model using new mass protected fermions which are all non-singlet under SU(5), without encountering a Landau pole in the U(1) fine structure constant well below the Planck scale. However it is possible to construct a consistent model with a fourth generation of quarks but, instead of an extra generation of leptons, with a generation of the fermions coupling to SU(5); the SU(5)-"quarks" given in table 5.1.

A similar solution with a fourth generation of quarks and a generation of SU(N)-"quarks", as given in table 5.2, is possible for the gauge group SMG_{23N} . However the number of SU(2) doublets in the model increases with N and hence their contribution to the electroweak radiative corrections becomes more important. The SMG_{235} model is just consistent with the precision electroweak data but SMG_{23N} models with N > 5 are probably ruled out depending on how many standard deviations we allow the S parameter in our model to differ from experiment (see section 3.3). Similarly the SMG_{23MN} models, with both M and N greater than 3, would be inconsistent with the precision electroweak data.

The SMG_{235} model with a fourth generation of quarks and a generation of SU(5)-"quarks" seems to be phenomenologically consistent. However agreement with precision electroweak data is not certain. We have used the perturbative estimate of the contribution to the S parameter and our model differs from the experimental mean value by 2 standard deviations. If we accepted the non-perturbative estimate obtained by scaling QCD we would then differ by 4 standard deviations and conclude that none of our models could be consistent. However, we argue that there is no reason to prefer one method to the other. The only certain method is to calculate the S parameter non-perturbatively for this model which unfortunately, as with many strong interaction phenomena, cannot be reliably done.

Definite experimental evidence for or against this model will soon be available since it requires the existence of t' and b' quarks at or below the top quark mass scale. This is consistent with current experimental limits but they could not remain undetected for long. However it is unlikely that the SU(5)-"quarks" could be observed with current accelerators; they would be confined inside SU(5)-"hadrons" which would have a mass of the order of the SU(5) confinement scale. We take this to be greater than the electroweak scale. Also, they would have a small production cross section at present hadron colliders. Even if this model doesn't turn out to be correct we hope that the derivation might at least highlight some of the important features of the SM and some of the unique qualities of the SM which appears (admittedly almost by definition) as the smallest case of our more general models.

In the final chapter we examined a different type of model. The original motivation was that the group SMG^3 could be used to predict the values of the gauge coupling constants. It was then used to explain the structure of the SM masses and mixing angles in a natural way. The group $U(1)_f$ was then added to greatly improve the fit. However, not all parameters and PCCSs were needed for the fit. So the natural step was to examine the subgroup which was needed for the fit and try a different set of $U(1)_f$ charges. The charges could be chosen differently since there are not as many anomaly constraints in the subgroup as in the full group. However, it was found that the choice of charges used in this thesis did not improve on the choice for the full $SMG^3 \otimes U(1)_f$ group. However, this is an area where more work could be done since there are other choices of $U(1)_f$ charges which cancel the anomalies. Only when all the models have been analysed will it be possible to provide a definite conclusion.

Appendix A

Massless Fermions All Coupling to SU(5)

In this appendix we shall show what can be done in the general case where we do not assume that the fermions must get a mass via the SM Higgs mechanism. We examine the case where all the fermions are assumed to couple to the SU(5) gauge group. Our principle of small representations then forces all the fermions to be in 5 or $\overline{5}$ representations of SU(5). The condition for the absence of the $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly is non-linear but all the other constraints are linear. So we ignore the $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly to start with and manipulate the equations for the cancellation of the other anomalies. Using the charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.72), we can express all the anomaly constraints in terms of integers. We then simplify the linear equations using simple techniques such as showing that certain combinations of variables must be divisible by 5. Then we can often constrain that combination of variables to be equal to zero provided we assume some limit on the total number of fermions. We finally end up with several simple constraints on the allowed types of fermions.

We shall start by writing all representations of the gauge group SMG_{235} which are 5 or $\overline{5}$ representations of the SU(5) subgroup, are fundamental or singlet representations of the SU(2) and SU(3) subgroups and have weak hypercharge values obeying the charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.72). Tables A.1 and A.2 show the relative contributions of each of these particle representations to each type of gauge anomaly. In this case the mixed gauge and gravitational anomaly is cancelled whenever the $[SU(5)]^2U(1)$ anomaly is since all fermions are in fundamental representations of SU(5). In tables A.1 and A.2, each integer N is different and there can be any number of each representation with the same or different values of N. The notation N_A is used to mean the sum of the A values of N for the A (1,1,5) representations. Similar notation is used for the other representations of $SU(2) \otimes SU(3) \otimes SU(5)$. Keeping this in mind it is now easy to sum the columns except for the $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly. The resulting constraints are, apart from the $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly,

$$A - B + 2C - 2D + 3E - 3F + 3G - 3H +$$

$$6I - 6J + 6K - 6L = 0 \quad (A.1)$$

$$E + F - G - H + 2I + 2J - 2K - 2L = 0 \quad (A.2)$$

$$10(N_C + N_D + 3N_I + 3N_J + 3N_K + 3N_L)$$

$$+2m(-C + D - 3I + 3J - 3K + 3L)$$

$$+5(-C + D + I + J - K - L) = 0 \quad (A.3)$$

$$10(N_A + N_B + 2N_C + 2N_D)$$

$$-2m(A - B + 2C - 2D) + 10(-C + D) = 0 \quad (A.4)$$

$$10(N_A + N_B + 2N_C + 2N_D + 3N_E + 3N_F + 3N_G + 3N_H$$

$$+6N_I + 6N_J + 6N_K + 6N_L)$$

$$-2m(A - B + 2C - 2D + 3E - 3F$$

$$+3G - 3H + 6I - 6J + 6K - 6L)$$

$$-10(C - D + E + F - G - H - I - J + K + L) = 0 \quad (A.5)$$

Table A.1: All fundamental and singlet fermion representations of SU(2) and SU(3) which are fundamental representations of SU(5). The weak hypercharges obey the charge quantisation rule, eq. (1.4.72) and the 'N's are integers which need not be the same, even for two identical non-abelian representations. The relative contributions to the $[U(1)]^3$ and $[SU(2)]^2U(1)$ gauge anomalies are shown for each type of representation.

Rep.	No.	y	$[U(1)]^3$	$[SU(2)]^2[U(1)]$
1, 1, 5	A	$2N - \frac{2m}{5}$	$\frac{8}{25}(5N-m)^3$	0
$1, 1, \overline{5}$	В	$2N + \frac{2m}{5}$	$\frac{8}{25}(5N+m)^3$	0
2, 1, 5	C	$2N - \frac{2m}{5} - 1$	$\frac{2}{25}(10N-2m-5)^3$	10N - 2m - 5
$2, 1, \overline{5}$	D	$2N + \frac{2m}{5} + 1$	$\frac{2}{25}(10N+2m+5)^3$	10N + 2m + 5
1, 3, 5	E	$2N - \frac{2m}{5} - \frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{8}{225}(15N-3m-5)^3$	0
$1, 3, \overline{5}$	F	$2N + \frac{2m}{5} - \frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{8}{225}(15N+3m-5)^3$	0
$1,\overline{3},5$	G	$2N - \frac{2m}{5} + \frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{8}{225}(15N-3m+5)^3$	0
$1,\overline{3},\overline{5}$	Η	$2N + \frac{2m}{5} + \frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{8}{225}(15N+3m+5)^3$	0
2, 3, 5	Ι	$2N - \frac{2m}{5} + \frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{2}{225}(30N-6m+5)^3$	30N - 6m + 5
$2,3,\overline{5}$	J	$2N + \frac{2m}{5} + \frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{2}{225}(30N+6m+5)^3$	30N + 6m + 5
$2,\overline{3},5$	K	$2N - \frac{2m}{5} - \frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{2}{225}(30N-6m-5)^3$	30N - 6m - 5
$2,\overline{3},\overline{5}$	L	$2N + \frac{2m}{5} - \frac{1}{3}$	$\frac{2}{225}(30N+6m-5)^3$	30N + 6m - 5

Table A.2: Types of representations A to L shown in table A.1 with their relative contributions to the $[SU(3)]^2U(1)$, $[SU(5)]^2U(1)$, $[SU(3)]^3$ and $[SU(5)]^3$ gauge anomalies. Since all the fermions are in fundamental representations of SU(5) the condition for the absence of the mixed gauge and gravitational anomaly, $G^2U(1)$, is the same as for the absence of the $[SU(5)]^2U(1)$ gauge anomaly.

Rep.	No.	$[SU(3)]^2[U(1)]$	$[SU(5)]^2[U(1)]$	$[SU(3)]^{3}$	$[SU(5)]^{3}$
1, 1, 5	A	0	10N - 2m	0	1
$1, 1, \overline{5}$	B	0	10N + 2m	0	-1
2, 1, 5	C	0	20N - 4m - 10	0	2
$2, 1, \overline{5}$	D	0	20N + 4m + 10	0	-2
1, 3, 5		30N - 6m - 10	30N - 6m - 10	1	3
$1,3,\overline{5}$	F	30N + 6m - 10	30N + 6m - 10	1	-3
$1,\overline{3},5$	G	30N - 6m + 10	30N - 6m + 10	-1	3
$1,\overline{3},\overline{5}$	H	30N + 6m + 10	30N + 6m + 10	-1	-3
2, 3, 5	I	60N - 12m + 10	60N - 12m + 10	2	6
$2,3,\overline{5}$	J	60N + 12m + 10	60N + 12m + 10	2	-6
$2,\overline{3},5$	K	60N - 12m - 10	60N - 12m - 10	-2	6
$2,\overline{3},\overline{5}$		60N + 12m - 10	60N + 12m - 10	-2	—6

•

Also the total number of additional fermions is,

$$P = 5(A + B + 2C + 2D + 3E + 3F + 3G + 3H + 6I + 6J + 6K + 6L)$$
(A.6)

Using the above equations, keeping in mind that all the variables are integers, it is fairly straightforward to find the smallest possible solutions using some simple numerical analysis.

First of all, using eqs. (A.1) and (A.5) we obtain,

$$N_A + N_B + 2N_C + 2N_D + 3N_E + 3N_F + 3N_G + 3N_H + 6N_I + 6N_J + 6N_K + 6N_L = C - D + E + F - G - H - I - J + K + L$$
(A.7)

From eq. (A.1), (A - B + 2C - 2D) must be a multiple of 3, i.e.

$$3|(A - B + 2C - 2D) \tag{A.8}$$

Similarly, we can get the following equations; from eq. (A.4),

$$5|(A - B + 2C - 2D) \tag{A.9}$$

from eq. (A.1),

$$2|(A - B + 3E - 3F + 3G - 3H)$$
(A.10)

from eq. (A.2),

$$2|(E + F - G - H)$$
(A.11)

and from eq. (A.3),

$$5|(-C+D-3I+3J-3K+3L)$$
 (A.12)

and

$$2|(-C+D+I+J-K-L)$$
 (A.13)

Now, using eqs. (A.8) and (A.9) we get,

$$15|(A - B + 2C - 2D) \tag{A.14}$$

and using eqs. (A.10) and (A.11) we obtain,

$$2|(A - B - 6F + 6G) \tag{A.15}$$

which implies,

$$2|(A-B) \tag{A.16}$$

Eqs. (A.14) and (A.16) then give,

$$30|(A - B + 2C - 2D) \tag{A.17}$$

Using eq. (A.17), if $A - B + 2C - 2D \neq 0$ then $|A - B + 2C - 2D| \geq 30$ and so from eq. (A.1) $|E - F + G - H + 2I - 2J + 2K - 2L| \geq 10$. Eq. (A.6) then tells us that the total number of additional fermions must be at least 300. Therefore, for any solution with P < 300,

$$A - B + 2C - 2D = 0 \tag{A.18}$$

Eqs. (A.1), (A.2) and (A.4) now become,

$$E - H + 2I - 2L = 0 (A.19)$$

$$F - G + 2J - 2K = 0 (A.20)$$

$$N_A + N_B + 2N_C + 2N_D = C - D \tag{A.21}$$

while eqs. (A.3) and (A.7) can be rearranged to give,

$$N_E + N_F + N_G + N_H + 2N_I + 2N_J + 2N_K + 2N_L = -I - J + K + L$$
 (A.22)

$$5(N_A + N_B + N_E + N_F + N_G + N_H - 4N_I - 4N_J - 4N_K - 4N_L) = m(A - B - 6I + 6J - 6K + 6L)$$
(A.23)

In order that there is no Witten discrete SU(2) anomaly,

$$2|(C+D+I+J+K+L)$$
 (A.24)

This means that

$$2|(-C+D-3I+3J-3K+3L)$$
 (A.25)

So

$$4|[(-2C+2D) - 6I + 6J - 6K + 6L]$$
(A.26)

and using eq. (A.18),

$$4|(A - B - 6I + 6J - 6K + 6L) \tag{A.27}$$

But, from eq. (A.23),

$$5|(A - B - 6I + 6J - 6K + 6L) \tag{A.28}$$

Therefore

$$20|(A - B - 6I + 6J - 6K + 6L) \tag{A.29}$$

Again using eq. (A.6), for P < 200 we must have,

$$A - B - 6I + 6J - 6K + 6L = 0 \tag{A.30}$$

or equivalently, using eq. (A.18),

$$C - D + 3I - 3J + 3K - 3L = 0$$
 (A.31)

eq. (A.23) now becomes,

$$N_A + N_B + N_E + N_F + N_G + N_H - 4N_I - 4N_J - 4N_K - 4N_L = 0$$
 (A.32)

From eq. (A.31), 3|(C - D). Now if $|C - D| \ge 6$ then eqs. (A.31), (A.18), (A.19), and (A.20) along with eq. (A.6) show that $P \ne 200$. So we are left with |C - D| = 0 or 3.

If C - D = 3 then, using eq. (A.18), A - B = -6, and from eq. (A.31) I - J + K - L = -1. Table A.3 gives the possible combinations which allow P < 200 in this case. Here $P_1 = 120 + 10(\alpha + 2\beta + 3\gamma + 3\delta)$, and α , β , γ , and δ

Table A.3: Allowed combinations of fermion representations which could cancel all anomalies with less than 200 fermions for C - D = 3.

Ι	J	K	L	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Η	Р
1	0	0	2	α	$\alpha + 6$	3	0	2	0	0	0	$180 + 10\alpha$
1	1	0	1	α	$\alpha + 6$	3	0	0	0	2	0	$180 + 10\alpha$
0	1	1	1	α	$\alpha + 6$	3	0	2	0	0	0	$180 + 10\alpha$
0	2	1	0	α	$\alpha + 6$	3	0	0	0	2	0	$180 + 10\alpha$
0	1	0	0	α	$\alpha + 6$	$\beta + 3$	β	γ	δ	$\delta + 2$	γ	P_1
0	0	0	1	α	$\alpha + 6$	$\beta + 3$	β	$\delta + 2$	γ	γ	δ	<i>P</i> ₁

	p	q	r	s	t	u	Minimum P
Ι	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
II	-6	3	2	0	-1	0	120
III	-6	3	0	-2	0	1	120
IV	6	-3	-2	0	1	0	120
V	6	-3	0	2	0	-1	120

Table A.4: Allowed combinations of fermions representations which cancel all anomalies except the $[U(1)]^3$ gauge anomaly, with less than 200 fermions.

are all whole numbers 1 .

If C - D = -3 then we have the same solutions as above with A and B interchanged $(A \leftrightarrow B), C \leftrightarrow D, E \leftrightarrow H, F \leftrightarrow G, I \leftrightarrow L$, and $J \leftrightarrow K$.

If C = D then, A = B from eq. (A.18) and from eq. (A.31), I + K = J + L. However, from eq. (A.21), $2|(N_A + N_B)$. Using this in eqs. (A.22) and (A.32) gives, 2|(I + J - K - L). But eqs. (A.18), (A.19), (A.20) and (A.31) along with eq. (A.6) show that if $|I + J - K - L| \ge 2$ then $P \not< 200$. Therefore I + J = K + L and so I = L and J = K.

Writing $p \equiv A - B$, $q \equiv C - D$, $r \equiv E - H$, $s \equiv F - G$, $t \equiv I - L$, and $u \equiv J - K$ the above results can be summarised in table A.4. Types II and IV are equivalent, as are types III and V by interchanging A and B etc. which is equivalent to relabelling representations 3, $\overline{3}$ and 5, $\overline{5}$.

We can also define $N_P \equiv N_A + N_B$ and $N_Q \equiv N_C + N_D$ etc. Eqs. (A.19)-(A.22)

¹We use the convention that whole numbers are non-negative integers.

and (A.30)-(A.32) can now be rewritten as

$$p = 6t - 6u \tag{A.33}$$

$$q = -3t + 3u \tag{A.34}$$

$$r = -2t \tag{A.35}$$

$$s = -2u \tag{A.36}$$

$$N_Q + 3N_T + 3N_U = -2t + u \tag{A.37}$$

$$N_P + 2N_Q = -3t + 3u \tag{A.38}$$

$$N_R + N_S + 2N_T + 2N_U = -t - u \tag{A.39}$$

Now we must consider the $[U(1)^3]$ anomaly. It can be shown that when eqs. (A.33)-(A.39) hold the $[U(1)]^3$ anomaly leads to the following constraint:

$$5[N_{P3} + 2N_{Q3} + 3N_{R3} + 3N_{S3} + 6N_{T3} + 6N_{U3} -3(N_{Q2} + N_{R2} + N_{S2} - N_{T2} - N_{U2}) -3(t + 2N_T + 2N_U)] -3m[N_{P2} + 2N_{Q2} + 3N_{R2} - 3N_{S2} + 6N_{T2} - 6N_{U2} +2(2t + u + 2N_S + 6N_T + 4N_U)] = 0$$
(A.40)

where the following definitions have been used:

 $N_{Ai} \equiv \sum N_a^i$ etc. for i = 2 or 3. $N_{P3} \equiv N_{A3} + N_{B3}, N_{Q3} \equiv N_{C3} + N_{D3}$ etc. $N_{P2} \equiv N_{A2} - N_{B2}, N_{Q2} \equiv N_{C2} - N_{D2}$ etc.

There is no obvious way of simplifying the above equations (especially eq. (A.40)) any further so we shall now assume that the fermions are all massive as discussed in section 2.4 and continue with the massive case in section 4.2.2. The general case could be solved by trial and error using a computer but we have not yet done that. If we did this we could look for the solution of the anomaly constraints which minimised the sum of weak hypercharges squared. This would allow us to show whether any model could be perturbatively valid up to the Planck scale. However, this method would obviously be far too complicated for any progress to be made analytically.

We can show that the smallest solution has 30 fermions but a very large sum of weak hypercharge squared. To cancel the anomalies we must have the same number of 5 and $\overline{5}$ representations of SU(5). So the smallest solutions are: one 5 and one $\overline{5}$, 10 fermions; two 5s and two $\overline{5}$ s, 20 fermions. However, it is simple to show that in order to to cancel the anomalies these solutions cannot have mass protected fermions. The smallest set of fermions which can cancel the anomalies with mass protected fermions is three 5s and three $\overline{5}$ s, 30 fermions. The solution with the smallest sum of weak hypercharges squared is:

$$(-\frac{22}{5},5)$$
 $(\frac{18}{5},5)$ $(\frac{18}{5},5)$
 $(-\frac{8}{5},\overline{5})$ $(-\frac{8}{5},\overline{5})$ $(\frac{2}{5},\overline{5})$

where only the representations of $U(1) \otimes SU(5)$ are shown since they are all singlets of $SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$. The sum of weak hypercharge squared is

$$\sum y^2 = 252.8 \tag{A.41}$$

As we showed in section 4.2.2 this would cause a U(1) Landau pole below the Planck scale. So we really must search for the solution with the smallest sum of weak hypercharge squared if we want a solution which would be consistent. However, we don't believe that massless fermions would be phenomenologically acceptable anyway and so we have not pursued this case any further.
Bibliography

- [1] L. Alvarez-Gaume and E. Witten, Nucl. Phys. B234 (1984) 269
- [2] E. Witten, Phys. Lett. **B117** (1982) 324
- [3] D.J. Gross and F. Wilczek, Phys. Rev. Lett. 30 (1973) 1343; H.D. Politzer, Phys. Rev. Lett. 30 (1973) 1346
- [4] T.P. Cheng, E. Eichten and Ling-Fong Li, Phys. Rev. D9 (1974) 2259
- [5] Particle Data Group, Phys. Rev. **D50** (1994) 1173
- [6] J. Gasser and H. Leutwyler, Phys. Rep. 87 (1982) 77
- [7] C.D. Froggatt and H.B. Nielsen, Origin of Symmetries (World Scientific, Singapore, 1991)
- [8] L. O'Raifeartaigh, Group Structure of Gauge Theories (Cambridge University Press, 1986)
- [9] E. Fahri and L. Susskund, Phys. Rep. 74 (1981) 277
- [10] N. Brene and H.B. Nielsen, Phys. Lett. **B223** (1989) 399
- [11] N. Brene and H.B. Nielsen, Nucl. Phys. B359 (1991) 406
- [12] H.B. Nielsen and S.E. Rugh, Why do we live in 3+1 dimensions?, NBI Preprint NBI-HE-93-11 (1993)

- [13] D.S. Shaw and R.R. Volkas, Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 241
- [14] C.D. Froggatt, G. Lowe and H.B. Nielsen, Nucl. Phys. B420 (1994) 3
- [15] C.T. Hill, Phys. Lett. **B266** (1991) 419; Phys. Lett. **B345** (1995) 483; C.D. Carone and H. Murayama, Third Family Flavor Physics in an $SU(3)^3 \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ model, LBL-37099 (1995)
- [16] D.L. Bennett, H.B. Nielsen and I. Picek, Phys. Lett. B208 (1988) 275
- [17] C.D. Froggatt, G. Lowe and H.B. Nielsen, Nucl. Phys. B414 (1994) 579
- [18] C.Q. Geng and R.E. Marshak, Phys. Rev. D39 (1989) 693; Phys. Rev. D41 (1990) 717; J. Minahau, P. Ramond and R.C. Warner; Phys. Rev. D41 (1990) 715; R.E. Marshak, Conceptual Foundations of Modern Particle Physics (World Scientific, Singapore, 1993)
- [19] M. Veltman, Nucl. Phys. B123 (1977) 89
- [20] M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond and R. Slansky, Supergravity, Eds. P. van Nieuwenhuizen and D.Z. Freedman (North Holland, New york, 1980) p.315;
 T. Yanigada, Proc. of the Workshop on Unified Theory and Baryon Number in the Universe, p.95, Eds. A. Sawada and H.Sugawara (KEK, Tsukuba-Gu, Ibaraki-Ken, Japan, 1979); C.D. Froggatt and H.B. Nielsen, Nucl. Phys. B164 (1979) 144
- [21] F. Abe *et al.*, Observation of Top Quark Production in $\overline{p}p$ Collisions, FERMILAB-PUB-95/022-E
- [22] S. Abachi et al., Observation of the Top Quark, FERMILAB-PUB-95/028-E
- [23] S. Abachi et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 72 (1994) 2138
- [24] F. Abe et al., Phys. Rev. D50 (1994) 2966

- [25] E.H. Simmons, Nucl. Phys. B312 (1989) 253; C.D. Carone and H. Georgi,
 Phys. Rev. D49 (1994) 1427
- [26] H. Georgi, Phys. Lett. B298 (1993) 187
- [27] M. E. Peskin and T. Tacheuchi, Phys. Rev. D46 (1992) 381
- [28] G. Altarelli and R. Barbieri, Phys. Lett. **B253** (1991) 161
- [29] J. Erler and P.Langacker, Implications of High Precision Experiments and the CDF Top Quark Candidates, Pennsylvania preprint UPR-0632T.
- [30] H. Arason, D.J. Castaño, B. Kesthelyi, S. Mikaelian, E.J. Piard, P. Ramond and B.D. Wright, Phys Rev. D46 (1992) 3945
- [31] M.E. Machacek and M.T. Vaughn, Nucl. Phys. B222 (1983) 83; Nucl. Phys.
 B236 (1984) 221; Nucl. Phys. B249 (1985) 70
- [32] C.T. Hill, Phys. Rev. D24 (1981) 691; C.T. Hill, C.N.Leung and S. Rao, Nucl. Phys. B262 (1985) 517
- [33] S. Dimopoulos and S. Theodorakis, Phys. Lett. 154B (1985) 153

